

Kalafatakis, K., Russell, G. M., Zarros, A. and Lightman, S. L. (2016) Temporal control of glucocorticoid neurodynamics and its relevance for brain homeostasis, neuropathology and glucocorticoid-based therapeutics. Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews, 61, pp. 12-25.

There may be differences between this version and the published version. You are advised to consult the publisher's version if you wish to cite from it.

http://eprints.gla.ac.uk/149103/

Deposited on: 10 October 2017

Enlighten – Research publications by members of the University of Glasgow http://eprints.gla.ac.uk

REVIEW ARTICLE

Temporal control of glucocorticoid neurodynamics and its relevance for brain homeostasis, neuropathology and glucocorticoid-based therapeutics

Konstantinos Kalafatakis^{a,*}, Georgina M. Russell^a, Apostolos Zarros^b, Stafford L. Lightman^a

^{*a*} Henry Wellcome Laboratories for Integrative Neuroscience and Endocrinology, School of Clinical Sciences, Faculty of Medicine and Dentistry, University of Bristol, Bristol, BS1 3NY, United Kingdom.

(kk13382@bristol.ac.uk; georgina.russell@bristol.ac.uk; stafford.lightman@bristol.ac.uk) ^b Institute of Cardiovascular and Medical Sciences, College of Medical, Veterinary and Life Sciences, University of Glasgow, Glasgow G12 8QQ, United Kingdom (a.zarros.1@research.gla.ac.uk)

* Corresponding author:

Dr Konstantinos G. Kalafatakis, MD, MAPS

Henry Wellcome Laboratories for Integrative Neuroscience and Endocrinology,

School of Clinical Sciences, Faculty of Medicine and Dentistry, University of Bristol,

Dorothy Hodgkin Building, Whitson Street, Bristol BS1 3NY, United Kingdom

Tel: +44(0) 7527705392, +44 (0) 1173313167

Fax. +44 (0) 1173313169

E-mail: <u>kk13382@bristol.ac.uk; kgkalafatakis@gmail.com</u>

Abstract

Glucocorticoids mediate plethora of actions throughout the human body. Within the brain, they modulate aspects of immune system and neuroinflammatory processes, interfere with cellular metabolism and viability, interact with systems of neurotransmission and regulate neural rhythms. The influence of glucocorticoids on memory and emotional behaviour is well known and there is increasing evidence for their involvement in many neuropsychiatric pathologies. These effects, which at times can be in opposing directions, depend not only on the concentration of glucocorticoids but also the duration of their presence, the temporal relationship between their fluctuations, the co-influence of other stimuli, and the overall state of brain activity. Moreover, they are region- and cell type-specific. The molecular basis of such diversity of effects lies on the orchestration of the spatiotemporal interplay between glucocorticoid- and mineralocorticoid receptors, and is achieved through complex dynamics, mainly mediated via the circadian and ultradian pattern of glucocorticoid secretion. More sophisticated methodologies are therefore required to better approach the study of these hormones and improve the effectiveness of glucocorticoid-based therapeutics.

Keywords

Glucocorticoid pulsatility; ultradian rhythmicity; glucocorticoid-based therapeutics; neuropsychopathology; glucocorticoid neurodynamics; mineralocorticoid receptors; glucocorticoid receptors

Table of Contents

- 1. Introduction: glucocorticoids and their clinical significance
- 2. Inconsistencies in our understanding of GC therapeutics in neurology
- 3. The concept of HPA pulsatility and its relevance to brain homeostasis
 - 3.1. Basic regulation of endogenous GC rhythmicity: HPA pulsatility
 - 3.2. Complex dynamics of GCs reaching the brain
 - 3.3. Molecular basis of GC actions within the brain
 - 3.4. How is GC rhythmicity biologically perceived by the brain?
 - 3.5. Altered HPA rhythmicity in stressful conditions and human pathology

4. How does rhythmicity contribute to the diverse and frequently contradictory GC effects in the brain?

- 4.1. Neuroinflammation versus immunosuppression
- 4.2. Neurotoxicity versus neuroprotection
- 4.3. Enhancing versus attenuating systems of neurotransmission
- 4.4. Stress induction and neurobehavioural adaptation
- 5. Epilogue

1. Introduction: glucocorticoids and their clinical significance

The hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis, whose significance in human and animal physiology and pathology has been extensively studied for many decades, is crucially involved in regulating internal homeostatic mechanisms (many of which have a circadian pattern) and coordinating the organisms' stress responses. Many of these phenomena are regulated in man by one of the main end-products of the axis, the glucocorticoid (GC) cortisol, and to a lesser extent by corticosterone (which additionally constitutes the primary GC type in rodents and other non-human primates). These adaptation processes, which are characterized by great diversity, involve regulation of developmental (Allen, 1996; Jobe et al., 1998) and metabolic pathways (van Rossum and Lamberts, 2004), immune system components (Sorrells and Sapolsky, 2007) as well as modulation of human cognition and behaviour.

It is well known that GCs are biosynthesized for immediate release in the cortical *zona fasciculata* of the adrenal glands (AGs), and due to their lipophilic nature they rapidly diffuse across cell membranes, and are distributed via the systemic circulation predominantly - approximately 95% - bound to carrier proteins, mainly cortisol binding globin (CBG), and albumin, throughout the body (Lightman and Conway-Campbell, 2010) and cleared through liver (bile acids) and kidneys (urine) (Glantz et al., 1976). As indicated by these dynamic physicochemical properties as well as by more recent studies on endogenous GC dynamics (Hughes et al., 2010), GC abundance in the various tissues is primarily regulated by: (i) the pattern of their release into the systemic circulation from the adrenal cortex (i.e. the mode and integrity of activity of the HPA axis) (Henley et al., 2009a), (ii) the ratio of the circulating free to bound form (which is temperature-dependent and together with the concentration of CBG determines the availability of the biologically active cortisol) (Lentjes and Romijn, 1999), (iii) the tissue-specific existence of enzymes

that locally modulate active GC levels (cortisol conversion to inactive cortisone and *vice versa*) (Tomlinson et al., 2004), (iv) the capacity of some tissues (for instance the brain) to locally produce/regenerate steroids (Mellon et al., 2001), (v) the activity of the P-glycoprotein (PGP) pump across the blood-brain barrier (BBB) and (vi) the clearance rate of GCs from liver and kidneys. Processes (i), (ii) and (vi) determine the temporally-fluctuating, biologically active systemic GC concentrations.

The wide spectrum of GC-related biological actions, apart from indicating their generic significance in human (and many other animal species') physiology, has been exploited in the field of therapeutics of various disorders; natural or synthetic GCs are prescribed/used in several clinical conditions for instance inflammatory-oedematous diseases like serious allergies, asthma, serious bacterial infections (in combination with antibiotics) and primarily autoimmune disorders (Hill et al., 1990; Rhen and Cidlowski, 2005). Other therapeutic indications of GCs include conditions like chronic pain (in combination with first line pain killers under multi-drug schemes) and neoplastic lesions (again in combination with first line anti-neoplastic drugs under multi-drug schemes), as well as adrenal insufficiency (replacement therapy) (Crown and Lightman, 2005a).

Unfortunately, treatment with GCs is often only partial effective and also results in adverse effects (Boling, 2004; Crown and Lightman, 2005b). In the field of applied clinical neurosciences, GC-based therapeutics present two major challenges; the reduction of the neuropsychiatric adverse effects that accompany their highdose or long-term use (Klein, 1992; Tavassoli et al., 2008; Ricoux et al., 2013) and good scientific evidence for their effectiveness (in neurological cases occasionally prescribed). To overcome these challenges, as well as to further explore possible applications of GCs in other neurological processes including diagnosis, discrimination between disease subtypes, prognosis, treatment strategies of neuropsychiatric conditions, it is important to conceptualize the multi-level regulatory dynamics of GCs in stress regulation and health preservation (Young et al., 2004).

The purpose of this article is to discuss how the new concept of HPA pulsatility can provide a methodological and clinically significant advance for our understanding of stress physiology and pathology. We place GCs' effects on brain's functional phenotypes into the context of HPA rhythmicity, as well as highlight some important concepts related to GC neurodynamics in brain physiology and pathology.

2. Inconsistencies in our understanding of GC therapeutics in neurology

There is a characteristic discrepancy between the preclinical evidence that support the utilization of GC-based therapeutics or prognostic markers in various pathological cases and the poor results in terms of their efficiency or appropriateness when they are actually applied in clinical practice. This is also the case in neurological conditions.

Association of GCs with stroke evolution and prognosis has for instance been highlighted in clinical terms, since cortisol levels were found high during the first post-stroke week and such concentrations were associated with higher prevalence of systolic blood hypertension and night-time blood hypertension 24hours after stroke (Ahmed et al., 2004), and with increased dependency, delirium incidences, depression and mortality rates in post-stroke patients (though these conclusions are not necessarily independent of stroke severity and thus GC levels cannot be used as independent prognostic markers) (Barugh et al., 2014). Nevertheless, there is serious scientific confusion on whether GC levels can be used for short- and/or long-term prognosis of post-stroke patients, as well as at what stage of the post-stroke clinical evaluation these data should be acquired and interpreted (Christensen et al., 2004; Johansson et al., 2000; Marklund et al., 2004). There is also a debate on the causal origin of these raised GC concentrations, whether there is an alteration between total and free levels of circulating GCs in stroke patients, as well as whether there is a correlation between cortisol concentrations and its serum carrier protein levels; a recent study estimated an inverse and independent relationship between serum albumin and total cortisol levels in stroke patients, an observation also independent from stroke severity (Dziedzic et al., 2012).

Potential therapeutic responses of experimental neurovascular pathologies to GCs have been explored over the last 3 decades; GCs attenuate (along with mannitol and vitamin E) free radical-mediated peroxidation (Uenohara et al., 1988), increase endothelial NO synthase activity via the phosphatidylinositol-4,5-bisphosphate 3kinase / protein kinase B pathway, and as such effectively augment regional cerebral blood flow and reduce cerebral infarct size (Limbourg et al., 2002), while they could also control neuronal cell survival: death rates by indirectly influencing more complex neuroinflammatory signalling cascades (Takata et al., 2012). Nevertheless, when applied in actual clinical terms, GCs (or at least the clinical studies designed to justify their probable utility), fail to highlight any significant benefits; randomised trials comparing GC administration within 48 h of acute (presumed or definite) stroke onset with placebo or a control group didn't show any difference in the odds of death within one year, while treatment did not appear to improve functional outcome in survivors (Sandercock and Soane, 2011). Moreover, there is no evidence to support the routine use of GCs in patients with haemorrhagic stroke (Feigin et al., 2005).

At another level, recent clinical and pre-clinical research findings indicate a possible acute, transient suppression of the HPA axis in traumatic brain injury (TBI), (Taylor et al., 2013), which may offer valuable prognostic information (Hannon et al., 2013). Moreover, experimental treatment approaches that down-regulate neuronal / glial GR signalling exert neuroprotective features (Shi et al., 2014), while dexamethasone provides anti-oedematous / BBB-stabilizing effects in animal models of TBI (Thal et al., 2013). Lack of GCs (due to experimental adrenalectomy) has been shown to exert a similar and additive effect to experimentally-induced TBI (fluid percussion injury) on decreasing hippocampal mRNA expression levels of neurotrophin-3 (Grundy et al., 2004) and increasing brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) (Grundy et al., 2000), while it prevents the post-TBI-induced increase of nerve growth factor (Grundy et al., 2001). Some of these effects are reversed after GC substitution. In clinical terms though, evidence strongly discourages the use of GCs as part of a therapeutic strategy in acute TBI; a large randomised placebocontrolled clinical trial (MRC CRASH trial) revealed not only an unchanged mortality rate but also an increased risk of death within 2 weeks post-TBI in patients receiving methylprednisolone (Roberts et al., 2004).

Similar discrepancies have been observed in a number of other conditions, like multiple sclerosis and neurodegenerative disorders. For example, increased plasma cortisol levels have been associated with more rapid disease progression in subjects with Alzheimer-type dementia (AD) (Csernansky et al., 2006). In contrast, a large post-mortem neuropathological examination of individuals receiving systemic GCs for various medical reasons revealed at least 50% less histological markers of AD pathology compared to non-treated subjects (Beeri et al., 2012). Table 1 summarizes our state of knowledge concerning GCs' involvement in the pathophysiology of a number of neurological conditions. These discrepancies highlight the importance of integrating the complex mechanisms underlying GCs' physiological mode of activity to the strategies for applying GC-based treatments or prognostic tools in routine clinical practice (Russell and Lightman, 2014).

3. The concept of HPA pulsatility and its relevance to brain homeostasis

The contradictory results from preclinical and clinical studies concerning GC roles in normal and abnormal brain states introduce serious confounding parameters in our efforts to evaluate any possible valuable associations of GCs with clinical neurosciences from a therapeutic, prognostic, preventive and / or diagnostic point of view. Under which (intrinsic and extrinsic) conditions do GCs promote brain's effective, adaptive, physiological responses and what are the critical factors that transform GC influence to an ineffective, pathological insult? Under which terms could GCs be of any meaningful clinical use in solving neurological problems? And how can we collectively evaluate the sometimes contrasting evidence from different experimental or clinical studies trying to approach this field? One crucial step towards answering these questions is to place them into the context of HPA (and GC) pulsatility.

3.1. Basic regulation of endogenous GC rhythmicity: HPA pulsatility

Schematically, we can classify the basic regulatory mechanisms that define GC pattern of daily systemic fluctuations into two main categories; principal and superimposed (Figure 1). GCs are secreted in a circadian rhythm, where the natural peak occurs just prior to the active period (in human at about 9 am), followed by a gradual fall during the day to reach their nadir levels at roughly midnight. These increased GC levels during the circadian peak are thought to mainly arise from an augmented corticotrophin-releasing hormone (CRH) drive resulting from reduced

inhibitory input from the suprachiasmatic nucleus (SCN) to the paraventricular nucleus (PVN) and median eminence (Buckley and Schatzberg, 2005). GCs also inhibit the CRH-dependent stimulatory drive by a negative feedback loop at both pituitary and hypothalamic levels. Corticolimbic regions are also involved in this regulatory process, though it is worth noticing, that they do not directly innervate PVN. On the contrary they project via pathways like the bed nucleus of stria terminalis (BNST) to a number of basal forebrain, hypothalamic and brainstem cell populations that in turn innervate, the medial parvocellular part of this hypothalamic region (Herman et al., 2005). The hippocampus is also a target region for GC negative feedback, and it in turn exerts an inhibitory effect over HPA activity both at the circadian nadir and peak of secretion as well as at the onset and termination of the stress response (Jacobson and Sapolsky, 1991). The amygdala and prefrontal cortex (PFC) contribute to the regulation of the HPA functional status primarily after exposure to stressful conditions, with the amygdala contributing to these regulatory processes by enhancing the stress-related GC secretion in a regionspecific manner; central and medial amygdaloidal nuclei being susceptible to different stressful stimuli (intrinsic-inflammatory and extrinsic-environmental respectively) and contribute to the acute stress responses, while basolateral amygdala appears to have a role in the chronic stress integration. Medial PFC, on the other hand, has a regulatory role after acute psychogenic or systemic stress with an inverse relationship between chronic stress impact and PFC activity. Some of these PFC-related feedback mechanisms are characterized by laterality, with the right hemisphere being more important (Diorio et al., 1993; Jankord and Herman, 2008).

Underlying these mechanisms is a complex dynamic ultradian rhythm composed of individual pulses of GC secretion. These pulses vary in amplitude and duration throughout the day, but their origin seems to be the result of a selfsustaining feedforward and GR-dependent feedback oscillatory activity between the anterior pituitary (AP) and AGs - a sub-hypothalamic oscillatory mechanism (Waite et al., 2012; Walker et al., 2010; Russell et al., 2010). This results in a 24 h profile of circulating endogenous GCs, where pulses of adrenal GC secretion of varying amplitude and duration occur periodically, approximately every 60-145 min (Lightman et al., 2008; Gavrila et al., 2003), in anticipation of cortisol's estimated half-life (around 90 min) (Rai et al., 2004; Depue et al., 1985).

Both the circadian and ultradian characteristics can be highly variable, both within and between individuals. They depend on genetic, age- and gender-specific variations (Van Cauter et al., 1996; Bartels et al., 2003; Spiga et al., 2014), intrinsic environmental factors and perceived stress responses that define the temporally fluctuating state of activity of feedback and feedforward mechanisms (Lightman et al., 2002). Moreover, any underlying neuropsychiatric pathology involving corticolimbic areas of the brain (for instance neurovascular or neurodegenerative insults), whose integrity is also crucial for effectively modulating stress responses, could alter the temporal pattern of GC circulation. A recent study in stroke patients with right-sided infarction (Lueken et al., 2009) observed an altered tonic and phasic cortisol secretion and a damaged stress response compared to stroke patients with left-sided infarction or healthy age-matched controls, concluding that the asymmetrical (right hemisphere-coordinated) central regulation of stress system could be dysregulated by pathologies affecting these brain areas, leading to ineffective protection against disease and external challenges.

3.2. Complex dynamics of GCs reaching the brain

Although both the circadian and ultradian rhythms are preserved and synchronized within the systemic circulation, central nervous system (CNS) and subcutaneous tissue (Qian et al., 2012), the relationship between the patterns by which GCs are secreted from AGs and their effect on the modulation of brain physiology or pathology are clearly very complex, making the studies on the role of GC pulsatility in brain's physiology very challenging.

Schematically, endogenous GC dynamics are regulated at three different levels before reaching the level of brain-region specific cellular signalling. Firstly, at the level of their pulsatile secretion from AGs, as explained earlier, under the cointeracting feedforward and feedback mechanisms between and within corticolimbic brain areas (as well as possibly other unknown regulatory sites), brainstem, hypothalamus, anterior pituitary and adrenal cortex. Secondly, at the level of their systemic circulation, where the biologically active portion of GCs is distributed to various tissues. At this point, there are two important regulatory mechanisms; the amount and binding properties of GC-binding proteins (Henley and Lightman, 2011), and the clearance / metabolic rate of the biologically active portion of GCs from liver, kidneys and other sites (McKay and Cidlowski, 2003). Thirdly, at a brain-specific level, where GC dynamics could be effectively changed by processes like BBB penetration, resulting in alteration of the local cortisol to corticosterone ratio. Finally, at the brain region-specific cellular level, GC effects are determined from (i) the presence of enzymes with the capacity to alter locally the active hormonal concentrations, (ii) the differential expression of the two target receptors of GCs (mineralocorticoid receptor or MR, and glucocorticoid receptor or GR) in the various cell types in that brain region (neuronal and glial populations), (iii) other neurotransmitters or neuromodulators that may synchronously coinfluence the same brain area, (iv) intracellular interactions of the GC-sensitive receptors (like the phosphorylation of mitochondrial GR, affected by antidepressant fluoxetine) (Adzic et al., 2013) or GC-GR and GC-MR complexes that may regulate their signalling efficiency or cellular compartmentalization, and (v) the recruitment of other transcriptional co-activators or co-suppressors, as well as interaction with epigenetic mechanisms that define transcriptional selectivity (de Kloet et al., 2009; Biddie et al., 2012).

For instance, despite the fact that corticosterone is generally produced in much lesser degree compared to cortisol, as reflected by their systemic circulating concentrations, with a cortisol to corticosterone ratio (CCR) 93.5 : 6.5 (Raubenheimer et al., 2006), these dynamics change at a central level. There, PGP, a cellular membrane protein found (among others) in the endothelial cells of the BBB and responsible for releasing many substances out of the cells, shows a greater sensitivity in extruding cortisol rather than corticosterone, i.e. corticosterone is preferentially maintained in the human brain (de Kloet et al., 2009). Indeed, the CCR of the cerebrospinal fluid is substantially decreased at a ratio of 72 : 28 (Raubenheimer et al., 2006).

Another notable aspect of the complex neurodynamics of GCs is the ability of the brain to locally produce / regenerate / deactivate neurosteroids (Mellon and Griffin, 2002). Despite the fact that the enzymatic activity of Cytochrome P450 21hydroxylase (P450c21), the main cytochrome 450 enzyme responsible for converting 17-OH-progesterone and progesterone to GC precursors (11deoxycortisol and 11-deoxycorticosterone respectively) in AGs, is almost absent from CNS tissues (Mellon and Miller, 1989), various brain areas are capable of locally altering the GCs levels via (i) cytochrome P450 2D (CYP2D) isoforms (like the CYP2D6 isoform in human brain, found in most corticolimbic areas, basal forebrain and cerebellum) (Miksys and Tyndale, 2004) which perform the steroid 21hydroxylation (replacing P450c21 lack of activity within the brain) (Kishimoto et al., 2004), (ii) 11^β-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase (11^βHSD), that either increase the turnover between active and inactive GCs (isoform 1, found in corticolimbic regions, hypothalamic areas, brainstem and cerebellum) or solely degrade active GCs to inactive molecules (isoform 2, found in GC-insensitive brain regions like the circumventricular organs) (de Kloet et al., 2009), (iii) cytochrome P450 11-betahydroxylase (P450c11 β) enzyme (found in neocortex) responsible for converting GC precursors to active hormones (cortisol and corticosterone respectively), and (iv) 5areductase corticolimbic (found hypothalamic in areas, regions and circumventricular organs), which directs corticosterone precursors to other metabolic pathways (Mensah-Nyagan et al., 1999) (Table 2).

Thus, different brain areas are likely to be exposed to differential concentrations of GCs despite the fact that the pattern of systemically oscillating GCs levels as defined by the ultradian and circadian rhythm of HPA axis is preserved and synchronized throughout the brain. Moreover, the enzyme 11 β HSD which is differentially expressed in different brain areas can alter the corticosterone to cortisol ratio initially established by the higher BBB permeability of corticosterone. For instance, circumventricular organs may be exposed to very low levels of GCs since they lack the ability to locally produce GCs, they additionally contain 11 β HSD isoform 2 which degrades GCs to inactive molecules, and 5a-reductase, which further depletes corticosterone precursors from that brain areas' microenvironment. On the contrary, corticolimbic areas like PFC are able to enhance the local presence of GCs by producing and regenerating active GCs (since they express enzymatically active forms of CYP2D6, 11 β HSD isoform 1 and P450c11 β), and especially cortisol (due to the presence of 5a-reductase).

The ability of particular brain regions to locally enhance (or attenuate) the presence of GCs could offer a mechanism for increasing the efficiency of central stress response, i.e. to increase the chances that specific stress-related brain areas (like PFC) will recruit the (GR-dependent) neuronal mechanisms required for a successful behavioural adaptation to stress. Data indicating high degree of cellular co-localization between GRs, 11 β HSD isoform 1 and P450c11 β support this notion (Roland et al., 1995; Erdmann et al., 1996).

From another point of view, the ability of the brain to independently produce precursors mediated by a different enzyme (CYP2D6) compared to GC corresponding adrenal biosynthesis (P450c21) should probably be considered when trying to study the effects of GC deficiency in the brain due to P450c21 deficiency (congenital adrenal hyperplasia). In contrast, the drug metyrapone (which crosses the BBB if administered systemically) (Stith et al., 1976), used in clinical and preclinical GC research, blocks both the adrenal and central synthesis of GCs, because it inhibits the action of P450c11^β which is a common enzyme in both tissues' steroidogenic pathways. In addition, metyrapone selectively blocks the activity of the 11^βHSD subtype 1, thereby preventing the regeneration of active cortisol (Raven et al., 1995; Sampath-Kumar et al., 1997). Therefore, the experimental use of metyrapone is a reasonable strategy to induce cortisol (or/and corticosterone) deficiency in the brain (of animals or humans). Though it should be noted that metyrapone results to an increase in GC precursors (11-deoxycortisol and 11-deoxycorticosterone) which were recently shown to provoke particular neuro-modulatory effects (Kaminski et al., 2011).

Lastly, it is worth mentioning that CYP2D6 enzyme, apart from catalysing the synthesis of GC precursors within the brain, also metabolizes a series of CNSaffecting drugs like opioids, neuroleptics, antidepressants, beta-blockers, drugs of abuse, and neurotoxins (Zanger et al., 2004). Moreover, CYP2D6 brain levels are significantly up-regulated in chronic smokers and alcoholics in a cell-type and brain region-dependent manner, while genetic variation of CYP2D6 has been associated with a number of neuropsychiatric conditions like AD or Parkinson's disease (PD) (Miksys and Tyndale, 2004). All these parameters need to be taken into consideration when trying to design a clinical study about the central effects of GCs and their contribution in neuropsychiatric pathology.

3.3. Molecular basis of GC actions within the brain

In accordance with the pluralism of actions that GCs exert in the rest of the body, cortisol and corticosterone modify brain's physiology at multiple levels, primarily through binding with MRs and GRs in the cytoplasm, nucleus, mitochondria, cellular and mitochondrial membranes. In addition, non-specific GC effects (possibly resulting from the physicochemical interactions of GCs with plasma and mitochondrial membranes) have also been characterized (Song and Buttgereit, 2006).

We now know that MRs exist in two isoforms within the human brain, as alternative splicing between exons 3 and 4 results in an MR mRNA variant encoding a receptor protein with four additional amino acids compared to the wild-type MR protein (Wickert et al., 2000). The region-specific ratio between the two isoforms could be changed under neurological conditions like epilepsy, although from a functional point of view these isoforms do not have substantial differences (Wickert et al., 2000). Two alternative transcripts of the hippocampal MR have also been identified in the rat (Castrén and Damm, 1993), while many more variants have been identified in aldosterone target tissues leading to differential responsiveness to mineralocorticoids (Pascual-Le Tallec and Lombès, 2005). Integrative research (by exploiting the binding properties of synthetic anti-mineralocorticoid [³H]ZK 91587 or applying immunohistochemical approaches like *in situ* hybridization for investigating mRNA expression or Western blotting for protein level estimation) in many animal species including rats, guinea pigs, dogs and non-human primates like squirrel monkeys, indicate that most prominent MR-binding sites and sites of MR expression in CNS include hippocampus, lateral septum, amygdala, (Grillo et al., 1990; Patel et al., 2000) and to a lesser extent cerebral cortex, cerebellum, caudateputamen complex, and hypothalamus (Patel et al., 2000; Agarwal et al., 1993) (Table 3).

The developmental stage of the individual dynamically alters this profile of MR distribution within CNS as MR expression fluctuates between pre- and postnatal development in a brain-region specific manner (Matthews, 1998; Diaz et al., 1998), while aging is associated with a significant decrease in the expression and substrate-binding capacity of MR in these brain areas (Rothuizen et al., 1993); a phenomenon that may contribute to the dysregulated feedback activity in the HPA axis observed in older individuals (Bohn et al., 1991). Moreover, chronic stress seems to down-regulate MR mRNA expression in hippocampus, not only in mammals but also in birds (Dickens et al., 2009). Generally, MR expression within the rat brain seems to be rapidly, inversely auto-regulated (Chao et al., 1998) responding to GCs' changing levels, as adrenalectomy increases MR protein expression within 12 hours while the substitution with corticosterone or aldosterone reverses this phenomenon. Moreover, chronic high levels of GCs reduce MR protein levels compared to normal controls (Kalman and Spencer, 2002).

GRs seem to be more resistant to aging-related alterations in their expression or binding capacity within the brain (Rothuizen et al., 1993), though this process may region-specific (Perlman et al., 2007). Areas of GR expression include cingulate cortex, hippocampus, PVN and supraoptic nucleus (Matthews, 1998; Kiss et al., 1988), lateral geniculate, lateral and medial amygdala, thalamus, cerebellum and cerebral cortex (Patel et al., 2000) (Table 3). GR expression fluctuates between preand postnatal development in a brain-region specific manner (Matthews, 1998; Diaz et al., 1998). Moreover, chronic stress down-regulates GR mRNA expression in the PVN, but not in the hippocampus (Dickens et al., 2009). Like MR, the developmental stage of the individual and various environmental factors (Meaney et al., 2013) dynamically alter this profile of GR expression within CNS, especially when these are accompanied with early-life stress (Pryce, 2008). Epigenetic phenomena play an important role on this matter (Kino and Chrousos, 2011) and could form a molecular basis for developing GR-mediated susceptibility to neuropsychiatric pathology (McGowan et al., 2009). Generally, GR expression within the rat brain is also inversely correlated, but seems to be less prone to GC changing levels, since GR protein levels fluctuate at a lesser degree even after longer periods after adrenalectomy (Kalman and Spencer, 2002). Moreover, the underlying regulatory mechanism is not only GR-dependent (auto-regulation) but also MR-dependent (Chao et al., 1998).

The mosaic of GC-sensitive receptors' distribution throughout the brain is not only region-dependent, as described above, but also cell type-dependent. Although neurons and glial cells express both kinds of GC-sensitive receptors (Bohn et al., 1991), the neuronal-to-glial density ratio of their expression differs between brain regions. An extensive study of multiple brain regions of healthy male rats based on computer-assisted morphometric and microdensitometric evaluation of the GR immunoreactivity (Cintra et al., 1994) revealed important variations between them. Areas like the frontal lobe, cingulate cortex, olfactory nuclei, basal forebrain, most parts of basal ganglia, thalamus and parietal cortex contain high levels of GR- expressing neurons and low GR-expressing glia (neuronal-to-glial density ratio 3-11 : 1), while areas like PVN and other hypothalamic nuclei, dorsolateral thalamus, the most internal layer of the parietal cortex, amygdala, retrosplenial cortex, locus coeruleus, lateral parabranchial nucleus and raphe nuclei share a more or less equal density of GR-expressing neurons and glia. In only a couple of brain areas (like dentate gyrus and solitary tract) the density of GR-expressing glial cells is truly greater compared to neurons (neuronal-to-glial density ratio 1 : 3).

Thus, GCs may control a large number of CNS areas, but this influence is differentially mediated by glial cells and neurons in a brain-region dependent manner. On the contrary, there seems to be no fundamental variations in the manner of intracellular trafficking of GRs among different cellular types in vitro (Nishi et al., 1999). The particular interest about glial cells expressing GC-sensitive receptors lies on the fact that they represent a highly adaptive cellular part of CNS, and are involved in a series of fundamental histopathological processes like neuroinflammation and neuro-protection. In this context, it has been highlighted that GCs control genomic pathways that could establish glial-specific mechanisms to process glutamate and thus protect injured tissue from glutamate-induced neurotoxicity (Vardimon et al., 1999). Moreover, it was recently observed that MR-expressing astrocyte (a glial cell type) migration is increased to the ischaemic core in 20-min middle cerebral artery occlusion mice models, and that blockage of MRs (by spironolactone treatment) led to significant suppression of superoxide production within the infarct area and to up-regulation in the expression of neuro-protective / angiogenic basic fibroblast growth factor and vascular endothelial growth factor (Oyamada et al., 2008). At another level the synchronous interplay between activated microglia and inflammatory agents under pathological (low) GC levels may contribute to the development of complex phenomena like hyperalgesia (Suarez-Roca et al., 2014).

3.4. How is GC rhythmicity biologically perceived by the brain?

There is good evidence that GC rhythmicity is registered at the level of the brain. A recent study showed that the pattern of GCs pulses differentially regulates glutamatergic neurotransmission and long-term potentiation (LTP, an important neuronal mechanism considered to underlie memory formation) induction in cultures of hippocampal neurons and dorsal hippocampal slices from rodent brains (Sarabdjitsingh et al., 2014), while a previous study has described the phenomenon of gene pulsing in rat hippocampus following pulses of GCs (Conway-Campbell et al., 2010).

In the context of GC actions within brain, GC rhythmicity could offer a mechanistic, molecular explanation for their diverse effects, because it provides a regulatory input which can be "read" differentially by different brain regions depending on the amount of GR or MR they express. Moreover, due to different affinities of membrane-associated and nuclear MRs and GRs for GCs, the pattern of GC rhythmicity will determine which GC- receptors will be activated and their duration of activation. This will result in differential cellular effects depending on the receptor population, their pattern of activation and the recent history of cellular activation.

In more detail, current state of knowledge indicates that MRs' neuronal / glial activities may be mediated via either non-transcriptional mechanisms related to activation of membrane associated receptors or classic slower genomic pathways by activation of cytoplasmic MRs. The former, best described in hippocampal neurons, involve rapid (within minutes) effects (Roozendaal et al., 2010; GutièrrezMecinas et al., 2011) resulting from activation of receptors in the cell membrane with subsequent activation of intracellular phosphorylation cascades. The affinity of these membrane-associated receptors is a factor of magnitude less than that for to the nuclear MRs (Karst et al., 2005). This difference among affinity properties between nuclear- and non-nuclear-located MRs signifies the important role of GC pulsatility as a biological mechanism for modulating the initiation and duration of corresponding MR-dependent actions in relation to the physiological role that these actions exert. Nuclear MRs remain bound to DNA for much longer than GRs and circulating GC levels are at any time-point in the ultradian rhythm sufficient to preserve a continuous (= tonic) occupation / activation of high-affinity nuclear MRs (90% at any time during the day which increases to approximately 100% under acute stress conditions) (Reul and de Kloet, 1985), while 10-fold lower-affinity nonnuclear MRs are activated only during the rising phases and peaks of the GC ultradian pulses (depending on the amplitude of each pulse) or under stress, leading to increased MRs' instability and thus proteasome-dependent MR degradation (Lightman et al., 2008).

Like MRs, GRs possess non-nuclear (rapid, non-genomic) and nuclear (genomic, delayed) actions. GR-dependent genomic effects may also be mitochondrial as well as the well-established nuclear (Scheller et al., 2000; Moutsatsou et al., 2001), and GCs can affect brain mitochondrial function *in vitro* (Morin et al., 2000). Nevertheless, GR-dependent effects, rapid or delayed, are mediated during periods of high GC concentrations, due to the comparatively low affinity of GRs towards cortisol and corticosterone.

It appears that MRs and GRs have been assigned, in evolutionary terms, to a different primary regulatory role, and their CNS-region specificity and mode of activation should follow that distinct role; nuclear MRs seem to possess a continuous, "background" activity that stabilises neuronal and glial functions, ensuring homeostasis (a process that evolves normally in a long-term basis, which is in accordance with the slow, genomic effects of nuclear MRs). Non-nuclear MRs, on the contrary, seem to be necessary for coordinating the initial brain response to stress (which is acute, and thus in accordance with the fast, non-genomic actions of non-nuclear MRs), while GRs at the same time initiate the (sub-acute or even chronic) processes responsible for attenuating, and eventually terminating, stress responses (re-establishing homeostasis) as well as performing vital neurobehavioral adaptations to increase effectiveness towards confronting future threats and noxious insults.

3.5. Altered HPA rhythmicity in stressful conditions and human pathology

In clinical terms, many stressful and pathological states have been correlated with a dysregulated 24h ultradian profile of circulating endogenous GCs, indicating an altered activity of HPA axis under these conditions, despite the fact that mean cortisol or corticotrophin (ACTH) levels do not necessarily differ from normal controls (Figure 2). For instance, the study of HPA axis ultradian rhythms in premenopausal, viscerally obese women revealed several abnormalities of ACTH pulsatile secretion (increased pulse frequency and reduced pulse amplitude) which were not accompanied by abnormal mean ACTH concentrations in peripheral blood (Pasquali et al., 1998). Another example is obstructive sleep apnoea; in a recent study, the deconvolution analysis of secretory pulses in the 24h systemic GC profiles of untreated patients revealed longer duration of ACTH and cortisol pulses compared to the same patients when they had been successfully treated with continuous positive airway pressure therapy (Henley et al., 2009b).

Analysis of the 24 h ultradian profile of circulating endogenous GCs could be a useful indicator of the aetiology of high or low mean cortisol levels in many pathological conditions. In the neuropsychiatric context, neurodegenerative disorders like AD and PD, or depression and post-traumatic stress disorder have been thoroughly studied. Apart from the disturbed circadian pattern (increased waking / morning levels and circadian amplitude) and the increased mean systemic cortisol levels observed in AD (Martignoni et al., 1990; Lei, 2010), analysis of the 24 h ultradian profile of AD (and PD) patients reveals that the hypercortisolemia observed in these subjects results from a raised mass of cortisol secreted per burst compared to healthy age-matched volunteers without any substantial alterations in the cortisol half-life, number of secretory bursts within 24 h, and the mean intersecretory pulse interval (Hartmann et al., 1997). On the contrary, the possible existence of a dysregulated HPA axis in major depression (Pariante and Lightman, 2008) leading to hypercortisolemia, or fibromyalgia and chronic fatigue syndrome (Cleare, 2004; Calis et al., 2004; Wingenfeld et al., 2008) leading to hypocortisolemia, is not accompanied by substantial changes in the ultradian pattern of circulating GCs in the majority of particular subgroup of patients, although further studies are required (Young et al., 2001; Crofford et al., 2004). The co-evaluation of the mean systemic cortisol levels with their ultradian profiles could differentiate between different conditions depending on the aetiology (like AD from depression or Cushing syndrome) and predict the causal involvement of GCs in the initiation and / or progression of neuropsychiatric disorders (Notarianni, 2013). It is worth mentioning that in the past, efforts based on the mean GC concentrations and their circadian characteristics did not achieve good discrimination between depressed patients and patients with other neuropsychiatric pathology (schizophrenia, AD and mania) (Christie et al., 1983).

4. How does rhythmicity contribute to the diverse and frequently contradicting GC effects in the brain?

GC pulsatility plays a crucial role in the expressed plurality of GCs actions, as it offers the biological mechanism to achieve a dissociation between the MR- and the GR-dependent actions, as well as an association of them, under differential extent, during particular time points or periods (Russell et al., 2015). This association or dissociation between GRs' and MRs' actions can be realized at various subcellular levels. For instance at a nuclear level; MRs and GRs, when both present and activated within brain cells, can form heterodimeric complexes with DNA-binding and transactivation properties different from those of the respective homodimers (Trapp et al., 1994). Furthermore, it can be realized at the level of subcellular trafficking of MRs and GRs, where a differential combinatory pattern between them has been recently observed in the rat brain after induction of behavioural stress, depending on the brain region and the time after stress (Caudal et al., 2004).

At a more macroscopic perspective, GC pulsatility discriminates the combinatorial pattern of GC-sensitive receptors' activation between the different brain regions. Under physiological conditions, there is a tonic (continuous) GC influence in nuclear MR-sensitive brain areas, while only a phasic (periodic) influence in non-nuclear MR- and GR-sensitive brain areas, though rapid and delayed respectively, creating a mosaic of GC-dependent effects within the brain that are receptor type-specific (MR or GR or MR-GR depending on which receptors are expressed and activated in a brain-region and cellular type dependent manner) and strictly temporally regulated (continuous or time-limited, acute or delayed). Under stressful conditions, the spatial mosaic of GC-dependent effects within CNS

changes because the increased levels of GCs enhance activation events of nonnuclear MRs and GRs.

In relation to GC-sensitive receptor homeostasis, pulsatility offers a selflimiting method of controlling any membrane MR- or GR-dependent effects (and corresponding molecular cascades) that could be damaging in the long-term, but desired or necessary in the short-term or under acute stressful conditions. The significance of this self-limiting control of GC actions is lost in states characterised by a sustained dysregulation of the physiological ultradian pattern, such as chronic stress, various neuropsychiatric disorders or chronic treatment with high doses of GCs (Barnes and Adcock, 2009). These states result in prolonged high GC levels and thus the elimination of the recovery periods / self-limiting control of GR activation during the descending phase of the ultradian pulse cycles, leading to brain GC resistance (Meijer et al., 2003) followed by GR down-regulation and inductively reduced GR-dependent regulatory influences (Makino et al., 1995). For instance, rapid GR-dependent negative feedback regulation of ACTH release under basal conditions or acute stress (Russell et al., 2010) is reduced in major depression, a condition accompanied with an overactive HPA axis (Young et al., 1991). Other examples involve the reduction of immune system's sensitivity to GCs' immunosuppressive effects during chronic psychological stress (Miller et al., 2002), or the selective down-regulation of hippocampal GRs under sustained stress in rodents and non-human primates (Brooke et al., 1994) or after the experimental induction of viral encephalitis in rats (Bener et al., 2007). Additionally, GC resistance is thought to contribute to neuropathological mechanisms related to AD (another condition accompanied with an upregulated ultradian pattern) (Hartmann et al., 1997) such as disrupted axonal transport in cortical areas (Dai et al., 2004).

4.1. Neuroinflammation versus immunosuppression

Considering the importance of the temporal dimension of fluctuating GC concentrations within the brain, we can speculate that their short-term increase before or after an inflammatory insult may induce different effects. Indeed, acute increases of GCs have been shown to reduce certain types of inflammatory responses, especially of cytotoxic origin (attenuation of oxidative stress and cellular necrosis) if administered concurrently to or after an immune challenge (Nadeau and Rivest, 2003), but a major increase in GCs activity prior to an inflammatory insult (like exposure to lipopolysaccharide) can actually result in the exact opposite [exacerbation of neuronal / glial death, oxidative stress, potentiation of the glialmediated inflammatory response by acting as pro-inflammatory chemokines, augmentation of interleukin-1 β (IL-1 β) and tumour necrosis factor- α (TNF α), production and enhancement of the nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells (NFkB)-related genomic actions] (Frank et al., 2010; Frank et al., 2012). Similarly, chronic exposure to high versus physiological GC concentrations could also result in varying immunological phenotypes. Indeed, in the long-term, under non-stress levels, GCs suppress cytokine (such as IL-1β and TNFa) production, nitric oxide (NO) synthesis and transcription factors implicated in inflammatory activation (like NFkB), while during chronic stress pro-inflammatory mechanisms seem to be up-regulated (Sorrells and Sapolsky, 2007).

Given the temporal variation of the neurological effects of GCs and the multifactorial nature of the response, it is no surprise that increasing scientific evidence from preclinical and clinical studies suggests now that GCs may pharmacologically act in unpredictable ways in the context of multiple sclerosis patients, because the precise timing, dosage, duration, cellular exposure, and their background milieu may differentially affect the progression of the inflammatory response, BBB integrity and cellular viability (Krieger et al., 2014; Blecharz et al., 2010; Herold and Reichardt, 2013). Similarly, depression-like disruption of off-line motor memory consolidation has been observed in these patients under high-doses of corticosteroids (Dresler et al., 2010).

4.2. Neurotoxicity versus neuroprotection

The temporal dimension of the dynamic regulation of GC concentrations, as achieved by their endogenous rhythmicity, seems to be crucial in creating optimal conditions both for neuronal and glial viability, and in altering their resilience to noxious stimuli. Physiological levels of GC concentrations offer a balanced environment for neuronal maintenance while both low and high concentrations of GCs may deviate this balance to the neurotoxic range (U-shape-like effect) (Abrahám et al., 2006). The hippocampus appears to be particularly vulnerable to these neurotoxic effects, with CA3 pyramidal neurons being particularly more sensitive compared to CA1 pyramidal cells (Levy et al., 1994). Moreover, combination of differential GC levels with various noxious stimuli [Aβ-toxicity, hypoxia, N-methyl-Daspartate (NMDA)-induced excitotoxicity] leads to either an exacerbation of the neurodegenerative effects (when levels of GCs too low or too high) or an attenuation of the latter (under moderate corticosteroid levels) in a GC concentration-dependent manner (Abrahám et al., 2000). This latter effect has been also observed in animal models of cerebral ischemia, where chronic stress prior of neurovascular pathology was shown to increase stroke vulnerability, likely through GC-related endothelial dysfunction, since this effect was reversed by a GR antagonist (mifepristone) (Balkaya et al., 2011). On the contrary, stress or corticosterone administration after neurovascular pathology (vasoconstrictioninduced hippocampal ischemia) enhances cognitive recovery in rats (Faraji et al.,

2009). In accordance with previous data, chronic stress and elevated GC levels correlate with $A\beta$ amyloid and tau accumulation (Green et al., 2006) as well as with alterations in hippocampal plasticity including dendritic remodelling, neurogenesis and LTP (Rothman and Mattson, 2010). On the contrary, administration of corticosterone in cortical co-cultures of neurons and astrocytes decreases cytosolic Ca²⁺ levels in a calmodulin- and GR-dependent manner, counteracting glutamatergic cytotoxic effects due to calcium overload (Suwanjang et al., 2013).

4.3. Enhancing versus attenuating systems of neurotransmission

The periodic nature of GC fluctuations within the brain gains further significance if we consider that dynamic processes of CNS function, like synaptic and circuit plasticity or neurotransmission, are influenced by GCs and need to be strictly controlled. For instance, GCs regulate the turnover of dopamine receptors (D1 and D2) as well as their sensitivity to their ligands (Biron et al., 1992), and prolonged treatment with corticosterone increases mRNA levels of D1 receptors in the striatum and nucleus accumbens and selectively up-regulates receptor-ligand binding potential in substantia nigra and ventral tegmental area (sites of dopaminergic neuronal bodies) in rats (Czyrak et al., 2003). On the other hand, metyrapone-induced pharmacological adrenalectomy has the opposite effects (Czyrak et al., 1997). Moreover, long-term high levels of GCs under specific conditions of genetic susceptibility could exert a long-term, epigenetic control of ventral tegmental area-originated dopaminergic neurons (Niwa et al., 2013) as well promote stress-related. dopamine-dependent adaptive changes as in dopaminoceptive neurons related with emotional and social behavioural phenotypes (Barik et al., 2013), contributing to psychopathology. Furthermore, disruption of the circadian pattern of GCs' fluctuations and increased systemic GC

levels in rats have been shown to increase dopamine release in the PFC possibly as a result of increased synthesis and vesicular storage, providing a mechanistic explanation for prefrontal dysfunction in bipolar and other affective disorders associated with GC dysrhythmia (Minton et al., 2009) (Figure 3).

A second example where the dynamic changes of GC concentrations impose rapid effects in a brain region-dependent manner is seen in glutamatergic neurotransmission; high levels of GCs increase glutamate release primarily from neuronal (and secondary from glial) populations in corticolimbic brain areas by increasing the number or the probability of vesicular exocytosis at the presynaptic level in a rapid, non-genomic MR-dependent manner (Karst et al., 2005), followed by an increased translocation of NMDA and, independently, α -amino-3-hydroxy-5methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid (AMPA) receptors from intracellular pools to the postsynaptic plasma membrane. Moreover, acute stress enhances a NMDA receptorindependent form of LTP by mobilising calcium-permeable AMPA receptors in a GCdependent manner (Popoli et al., 2011). The duration of this MR-dependent upregulation of glutamatergic neurotransmission is region-specific, since it's shortlasting at the hippocampal level but long-lasting in the basolateral amygdala, where subsequent acute stressful insults lead to a GR-dependent down-regulation of glutamatergic stimulation (Whitehead et al., 2013). In distinction to this there is a brain region-specific adaptation of glutamate release in relation to chronic stress or to acute insults after chronic stress, since in some parts of the corticolimbic system (i.e. hippocampus) neurotransmission remains constant, while in others (i.e. PFC) it gradually decreases. At the same time, there is also a PFC-specific down-regulation of both classes of glutamate receptors, an effect related to disrupted receptor trafficking and / or altered degradation or synthesis (Karst et al., 2010). Moreover, GCs affect glutamate clearance from glial cells through glutamate transporter

primarily expressed in these cellular populations; acute stress increases while chronic stress decreases glutamate uptake (clearance) and metabolism in the frontal cortex and hippocampus through GC-related pathways, although these observations need further experimental validation (Karst et al., 2010).

A third example where the pattern of GC fluctuations results in differential effects involves gamma aminobutyric acid mediated (GABAergic) neurotransmission; corticolimbic areas seem more susceptible in this modulatory effect, which is characterized by the increase in GABA_A-receptor binding affinity at both low and high levels of GCs (Majewska et al., 1985; Majewska, 1987; Ong et al., 1987). High, acute stress-related GC levels result in NO release, which in turn stimulates GABA release from the GABAergic terminals in hippocampal interneuronal, inhibitory GABAergic populations; an effect that under chronic stress conditions could be proven detrimental for these neuronal networks (Hu et al., 2010). Daily administration of 1 mg/kg of corticosterone for 3 consecutive weeks in rats resulted in a down-regulation of GABA_A-receptors' subunit a₂ expression, as well as in a corticolimbic area-specific (amygdala vs hippocampus) differential reduction of glutamate-to-GABA conversion (Lussier et al., 2013). On the contrary, much longer, chronic (1 year) cortisol exposure in primates resulted in significant increases in hippocampal calbindin (a Ca²⁺-binding protein that buffers excess calcium), glutamic acid decarboxylase (GABA-synthesizing enzyme) and BDNF; an indication that this brain region could strengthen its GABAergic (inhibitory) influence under chronic stress conditions, trying to compensate the initial glutamate-releasing, excitatory (and the resulting glutamate-related cytotoxic) effects of GCs described earlier (McMillan et al., 2004).

4.4. Stress induction and neurobehavioural adaptation

In terms of the stress systems' capacity for mobilisation, GC pulsatility offers a mechanism for preserving the ability of the individual to respond to stressful situations throughout the day and defines the time points of maximal effectiveness. The ascending phase of each GC pulse cycle (which gradually induces activation of membrane associated MRs and GRs) constitutes a preparatory stage for initiating an effective stress response (if required), while the descending phase of the pulse cycle is less prone to support an equally effective stress response, serving probably as a recovery period before the ascending phase of the next GC pulse. Indeed, research work has highlighted that exposure to noise stress induces a stronger ACTH release and behavioural reactivity when animals were stressed during the rising phase of an ultradian corticosterone pulse compared with animals exposed to the same stressor during the falling phase (Sarabdjitsingh et al., 2010). The actual mobilization, though, of a stress response requires the synergy of the "GC background" (defined by the phase of the pulse cycle at the moment of the stressful stimulus' occurrence) with a plethora of other neuro-hormonal phenomena such as the release of hypothalamic CRH (leading to an increase in the GC secretion) and other neuropeptides, the activation of the peripheral, sympathetic nervous system (adjusting the entire body's metabolic demands for confronting the stressful insult) as well as the central noradrenergic, dopaminergic and serotoninergic circuits (which coordinate the behavioural adaptations during and after the stressful event) (Joëls et al., 2009).

The synchronous co-influence of GCs and other stress-coordinated neurohormonal stimuli within specific brain regions provides a mechanism for discrimination between the effects of high corticosteroid levels under baseline conditions (for instance during the peaks of the ultradian pulses) and stress. Such phenomena has been shown to mediate stress-dependent cognitive processes; for example, synergy between noradrenergic system and GCs leads to a strong deactivation of PFC areas during emotional encoding in human (van Stegeren et al., 2010), while preclinical research has highlighted the crucial role of GCs-noradrenaline regulatory interactions at multiple levels: (i) at the level of basolateral amygdala for enhancing emotionally arousing-related memory consolidation (Roozendaal et al., 2006) and social behaviour (Roozendaal et al., 1996; Schwabe et al., 2010) by enhancing synaptic plasticity (Sarabdjitsingh et al., 2012), (ii) at the hippocampal level, where they alter the functional contribution of AMPA receptors to glutamatergic neurotransmission (Zhou et al., 2012), or (iii) at the level of hypothalamus, where they modulate feeding behaviour (Leibowitz et al., 1984; Jhanwar-Uniyal and Leibowitz, 1986; Roland et al., 1986). Collectively, these combined effects promote behavioural adaptation to stressful situations (Krugers et al., 2012).

5. Epilogue

GC rhythmicity which emerges as а natural consequence of the feedforward:feedback interactions between the pituitary and adrenal cortex, results in many physiological consequences (Table 4). Systemic GC concentrations should be perceived and studied not as a binary system (high versus low), but as a continuously changing system, whose impact on the brain depends on individual characteristics, the system's endogenous rhythms, brain region and cell type, as well as the temporal relationship between glucocorticoid fluctuations and application of other endogenous or exogenous, physiological or pathological stimuli. Any discrepancies about glucocorticoid effects on the brain or when trying to utilise them in the therapeutic or other clinical context become easier to comprehend if we consider the homeostatic importance of these continuous, dynamic, ultradian fluctuations.

A deeper understanding of HPA axis activity, its modulatory effects, and how physiological activity changes upon pathological activation, is a prerequisite for developing a rational system of glucocorticoid therapeutics. The defining, multilevel dependency of human body homeostasis from GC homeostasis has been long ago recognised (Chrousos and Gold, 1992), as has the effect of disruption of GC homeostasis on biological processes including the developmental (in utero) determination of longevity, effective adaptation to environment and susceptibility to disease (Reynolds, 2013; Ter Wolbeek et al., 2015). Pulsatility offers a novel approach to understanding the diverse actions of GCs on neuroinflammatory responses, neuronal and glial metabolic properties and survival, CNS circuit dynamics, and behavioural and cognitive phenotypes. Furthermore it can provide insight into the reasons for the contradictory data found in studies of GC-brain interactions, justify the impressively wide range of the central GC actions, as well as promote a strong impetus for further studies into the therapeutic role of GCs in neuropsychiatric disorders. In addition, a better understanding of GCs' physiological and pathological responses in the brain could even allow the creation of algorithms to predict responses based on predefined biological and clinical parameters.

List of abbreviations

11βHSD: 11β-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase ACTH: corticotrophin AD: Alzheimer disease AGs: adrenal glands AMPA: α-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid

AP: anterior pituitary

BBB: blood-brain barrier

BDNF: brain-derived neurotrophic factor

BNST: bed nucleus of stria terminalis

CBG: cortisol binding globin

CCR: cortisol to corticosterone ratio

CNS: central nervous system

CRH: corticotrophin-releasing hormone

CYP2D: cytochrome P450 2D

D1: dopamine receptor type 1

D2: dopamine receptor type 2

GABA: gamma-aminobutyric acid

GABA_A: GABA receptor type A

GC: glucocorticoid

GR: glucocorticoid receptor

HPA: hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (axis)

IL-1β: interleukin 1beta

LTP: long term potentiation

MR: mineralocorticoid receptor

NFkB: kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells nuclear factor

NO: nitric oxide

P450c11β: cytochrome P450 11-beta-hydroxylase

P450c21: cytochrome P450 21-hydroxylase

PD: Parkinson disease

PFC: prefrontal cortex

PGP: P-glycoprotein PVN: paraventricular nucleus TBI: traumatic brain injury TNFα: tumour necrosis factor alpha SCN: suprachiasmatic nucleus

Acknowledgements

The study on glucocorticoids is being supported by Research Grants from Wellcome Trust and Medical Research Council.

Conflict of Interest

The authors declare no conflict of interest.

References

- Abrahám, I., Harkany, T., Horvath, K.M., Veenema, A.H., Penke, B., Nyakas, C., Luiten, P.G., 2000. Chronic corticosterone administration dose-dependently modulates Abeta(1-42)- and NMDA-induced neurodegeneration in rat magnocellular nucleus basalis. J Neuroendocrinol. 12, 486–494.
- Abrahám, I.M., Meerlo, P., Luiten, P.G., 2006. Concentration dependent actions of glucocorticoids on neuronal viability and survival. Dose Response 4, 38–54.
- Adzic, M., Lukic, I., Mitic, M., Djordjevic, J., Elaković, I., Djordjevic, A., Krstic-Demonacos, M., Matić, G., Radojcic, M., 2013. Brain region- and sex-specific modulation of mitochondrial glucocorticoid receptor phosphorylation in fluoxetine treated stressed rats: effects on energy metabolism. Psychoneuroendocrinology 38, 2914–2924.

- Agarwal, M.K., Mirshahi, F., Mirshahi, M., Rostene, W., 1993. Immunochemical detection of the mineralocorticoid receptor in rat brain. Neuroendocrinology 58, 575–580.
- Ahmed, N., de la Torre, B., Wahlgren, N.G., 2004. Salivary cortisol, a biological marker of stress, is positively associated with 24-hour systolic blood pressure in patients with acute ischaemic stroke. Cerebrovasc. Dis. 18, 206–213.
- Allen, D.B., 1996. Growth suppression by glucocorticoid therapy. Endocrinol. Metab. Clin. North Am. 25, 699–717.
- Balkaya, M., Prinz, V., Custodis, F., Gertz, K., Kronenberg, G., Kroeber, J., Fink, K., Plehm, R., Gass, P., Laufs, U., Endres, M., 2011. Stress worsens endothelial function and ischemic stroke via glucocorticoids. Stroke 42, 3258–3264.
- Barik, J., Marti, F., Morel, C., Fernandez, S.P., Lanteri, C., Godeheu, G., Tassin, J.P., Mombereau, C., Faure, P., Tronche, F., 2013. Chronic stress triggers social aversion via glucocorticoid receptor in dopaminoceptive neurons. Science 339, 332–335.
- Barnes, P.J., Adcock, I.M., 2009. Glucocorticoid resistance in inflammatory diseases. Lancet 373, 1905–1917.
- Bartels, M., Van den Berg, M., Sluyter, F., Boomsma, D.I., de Geus, E.J., 2003. Heritability of cortisol levels: review and simultaneous analysis of twin studies. Psychoneuroendocrinology 28, 121–137.
- Barugh, A.J., Gray, P., Shenkin, S.D., MacLullich, A.M., Mead, G.E., 2014. Cortisol levels and the severity and outcomes of acute stroke: a systematic review. J. Neurol. 261, 533–545.
- Beeri, M.S., Schmeidler, J., Lesser, G.T., Maroukian, M., West, R., Leung, S., Wysocki,M., Perl, D.P., Purohit, D.P., Haroutunian, V., 2012. Corticosteroids, but not

NSAIDs, are associated with less Alzheimer neuropathology. Neurobiol. Aging 33, 1258–1264.

- Bener, D., Wohlman, A., Itzik, A., Yirmiya, R., Ben-Hur, T., Weidenfeld, J., 2007. Glucocorticoid resistance following herpes simplex-1 infection: role of hippocampal glucocorticoid receptors. Neuroendocrinology 85, 207–215.
- Biddie, S.C., Conway-Campbell, B.L., Lightman, S.L., 2012. Dynamic regulation of glucocorticoid signalling in health and disease. Rheumatology (Oxford) 51, 403-412.
- Biron, D., Dauphin, C., Di Paolo, T., 1992. Effects of adrenalectomy and glucocorticoids on rat brain dopamine receptors. Neuroendocrinology 55, 468–476.
- Blecharz, K.G., Haghikia, A., Stasiolek, M., Kruse, N., Drenckhahn, D., Gold, R., Roewer, N., Chan, A., Förster, C.Y., 2010. Glucocorticoid effects on endothelial barrier function in the murine brain endothelial cell line cEND incubated with sera from patients with multiple sclerosis. Mult. Scler. 16, 293–302.
- Bohn, M.C., Howard, E., Vielkind, U., Krozowski, Z., 1991. Glial cells express both mineralocorticoid and glucocorticoid receptors. J. Steroid Biochem. Mol. Biol. 40, 105-111.
- Boling, E.P., 2004. Secondary osteoporosis: underlying disease and the risk for glucocorticoid-induced osteoporosis. Clin. Ther. 26, 1–14.
- Brooke, S.M., de Haas-Johnson, A.M., Kaplan, J.R., Manuck, S.B., Sapolsky, R.M., 1994. Dexamethasone resistance among nonhuman primates associated with a selective decrease of glucocorticoid receptors in the hippocampus and a history of social instability. Neuroendocrinology 60, 134–140.

- Buckley, T.M., Schatzberg, A.F., 2005. On the interactions of the hypothalamicpituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis and sleep: normal HPA axis activity and circadian rhythm, exemplary sleep disorders. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 90, 3106–3114.
- Calis, M., Gökçe, C., Ates, F., Ulker, S., Izgi, H.B., Demir, H., Kirnap, M., Sofuoglu, S., Durak, A.C., Tutus, A., Kelestimur, F., 2004. Investigation of the hypothalamopituitary-adrenal axis (HPA) by 1 microg ACTH test and metyrapone test in patients with primary fibromyalgia syndrome. J. Endocrinol. Invest. 27, 42–46.
- Castrén, M., Damm, K., 1993. A functional promoter directing expression of a novel type of rat mineralocorticoid receptor mRNA in brain. J Neuroendocrinol. 5, 461–466.
- Caudal, D., Jay, T.M., Godsil, B.P., 2004. Behavioral stress induces regionally-distinct shifts of brain mineralocorticoid and glucocorticoid receptor levels. Front. Behav. Neurosci. 8, 19.
- Chao, H.M., Ma, L.Y., McEwen, B.S., Sakai, R.R., 1998. Regulation of glucocorticoid receptor and mineralocorticoid receptor messenger ribonucleic acids by selective agonists in the rat hippocampus. Endocrinology 139, 1810–1814.
- Christensen, H., Boysen, G., Johannesen, H.H., 2004. Serum-cortisol reflects severity and mortality in acute stroke. J. Neurol. Sci. 217, 175–180.
- Christie, J.E., Whalley, L.J., Dick, H., Fink, G., 1983. 7. Corticosteroid secretion-clinical aspects. Plasma cortisol concentrations in the functional psychoses and Alzheimer type dementia: a neuroendocrine day approach in drug-free patients. J. Steroid Biochem. 19, 247–250.
- Chrousos, G.P., Gold, P.W., 1992. The concepts of stress and stress system disorders. Overview of physical and behavioral homeostasis. JAMA 267, 1244–1252.

- Cintra, A., Zoli, M., Rosén, L., Agnati, L.F., Okret, S., Wikström, A.C., Gustaffsson, J.A., Fuxe, K., 1994. Mapping and computer assisted morphometry and microdensitometry of glucocorticoid receptor immunoreactive neurons and glial cells in the rat central nervous system. Neuroscience 62, 843–897.
- Cleare, A.J., 2004. The HPA axis and the genesis of chronic fatigue syndrome. Trends Endocrinol. Metab. 15, 55–59.
- Conway-Campbell, B.L., Sarabdjitsingh, R.A., McKenna, M.A., Pooley, J.R., Kershaw, Y.M., Meijer, O.C., De Kloet, E.R., Lightman, S.L., 2010. Glucocorticoid ultradian rhythmicity directs cyclical gene pulsing of the clock gene period 1 in rat hippocampus. J. Neuroendocrinol. 22, 1093–1100.
- Crofford, L.J., Young, E.A., Engleberg, N.C., Korszun, A., Brucksch, C.B., McClure, L.A., Brown, M.B., Demitrack, M.A., 2004. Basal circadian and pulsatile ACTH and cortisol secretion in patients with fibromyalgia and/or chronic fatigue syndrome. Brain Behav. Immun. 18, 314–325.
- Crown, A., Lightman, S., 2005a. Management of patients with glucocorticoid deficiency. Nat. Clin. Pract. Endocrinol. Metab. 1, 62–63.
- Crown, A., Lightman, S., 2005b. Why is the management of glucocorticoid deficiency still controversial: a review of the literature. Clin. Endocrinol. (Oxf). 63, 483– 492.
- Csernansky, J.G., Dong, H., Fagan, A.M., Wang, L., Xiong, C., Holtzman, D.M., Morris, J.C., 2006. Plasma cortisol and progression of dementia in subjects with Alzheimer-type dementia. Am. J. Psychiatry 163, 2164–2169.
- Czyrak, A., Maćkowiak, M., Chocyk, A., Fijał, K., Wedzony, K., 2003. Role of glucocorticoids in the regulation of dopaminergic neurotransmission. Pol. J. Pharmacol. 55, 667–674.

- Czyrak, A., Wedzony, K., Michalska, B., Fijał, K., Dziedzicka-Wasylewska, M., Maćkowiak, M., 1997. The corticosterone synthesis inhibitor metyrapone decreases dopamine D1 receptors in the rat brain. Neuroscience 79, 489–495.
- Dai, J., Buijs, R., Swaab, D., 2004. Glucocorticoid hormone (cortisol) affects axonal transport in human cortex neurons but shows resistance in Alzheimer's disease. Br. J. Pharmacol. 143, 606–610.
- de Kloet, E.R., Fitzsimons, C.P., Datson, N.A., Meijer, O.C., Vreugdenhil, E., 2009. Glucocorticoid signaling and stress-related limbic susceptibility pathway: about receptors, transcription machinery and microRNA. Brain Res. 1293, 129– 141.
- Depue, R.A., Kleiman, R.M., Davis, P., Hutchinson, M., Krauss, S.P., 1985. The behavioral high-risk paradigm and bipolar affective disorder, VIII: Serum free cortisol in nonpatient cyclothymic subjects selected by the General Behavior Inventory. Am. J. Psychiatry. 142, 175–181.
- Diaz, R., Brown, R.W., Seckl, J.R., 1998. Distinct ontogeny of glucocorticoid and mineralocorticoid receptor and 11beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase types I and II mRNAs in the fetal rat brain suggest a complex control of glucocorticoid actions. J. Neurosci. 18, 2570–2580.
- Dickens, M., Romero, L.M., Cyr, N.E., Dunn, I.C., Meddle, S.L., 2009. Chronic stress alters glucocorticoid receptor and mineralocorticoid receptor mRNA expression in the European starling (Sturnus vulgaris) brain. J. Neuroendocrinol. 21, 832–840.
- Diorio, D., Viau, V., Meaney, M.J., 1993. The role of the medial prefrontal cortex (cingulate gyrus) in the regulation of hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal responses to stress. J. Neurosci. 13, 3839–3847.

- Dresler, M., Genzel, L., Kluge, M., Schüssler, P., Weber, F., Rosenhagen, M., Steiger, A., 2010. Off-line memory consolidation impairments in multiple sclerosis patients receiving high-dose corticosteroid treatment mirror consolidation impairments in depression. Psychoneuroendocrinology 35, 1194–1202.
- Dziedzic, T., Pera, J., Wnuk, M., Szczudlik, A., Slowik, A., 2012. Serum albumin as a determinant of cortisol release in patients with acute ischemic stroke. Atherosclerosis 221, 212–214.
- Erdmann, B., Gerst, H., Lippoldt, A., Bülow, H., Ganten, D., Fuxe, K., Bernhardt, R., 1996. Expression of cytochrome P45011B1 mRNA in the brain of normal and hypertensive transgenic rats. Brain Res. 733, 73–82.
- Faraji, J., Lehmann, H., Metz, G.A., Sutherland, R.J., 2009. Stress and corticosterone enhance cognitive recovery from hippocampal stroke in rats. Neurosci. Lett. 462, 248–252.
- Feigin, V.L., Anderson, N., Rinkel, G.J., Algra, A., van Gijn, J., Bennett, D.A., 2005. Corticosteroids for aneurysmal subarachnoid haemorrhage and primary intracerebral haemorrhage. Cochrane Database Syst. Rev. 3, CD004583.
- Frank, M.G., Miguel, Z.D., Watkins, L.R., Maier, S.F., 2010. Prior exposure to glucocorticoids sensitizes the neuroinflammatory and peripheral inflammatory responses to *E. coli* lipopolysaccharide. Brain Behav. Immun. 24, 19–30.
- Frank, M.G., Thompson, B.M., Watkins, L.R., Maier, S.F., 2012. Glucocorticoids mediate stress-induced priming of microglial pro-inflammatory responses. Brain Behav. Immun. 26, 337–345.
- Gavrila, A., Peng, C.K., Chan, J.L., Mietus, J.E., Goldberger, A.L., Mantzoros, C.S., 2003. Diurnal and ultradian dynamics of serum adiponectin in healthy men:

comparison with leptin, circulating soluble leptin receptor, and cortisol patterns. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 88, 2838–2843.

- Glantz, S.A., Luetscher, J.A., Day, R.P., Perloff, M., 1976. A compartment description for cortisol secretion, distribution, binding, and metabolism in man. IEEE Trans. Biomed. Eng. 23, 36–44.
- Green, K.N., Billings, L.M., Roozendaal, B., McGaugh, J.L., LaFerla, F.M., 2006. Glucocorticoids increase amyloid-beta and tau pathology in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. J. Neurosci. 26, 9047–9056.
- Grillo, C., Vallee, S., McEwen, B.S., De Nicola, A.F., 1990. Properties and distribution of binding sites for the mineralocorticoid receptor antagonist [³H]ZK 91587 in brain. J. Steroid Biochem. 35, 11–15.
- Grundy, P.L., Patel, N., Harbuz, M.S., Lightman, S.L., Sharples, P.M., 2000. Glucocorticoids modulate BDNF mRNA expression in the rat hippocampus after traumatic brain injury. Neuroreport 11, 3381–3384.
- Grundy. P.L., Patel, N., Harbuz, M.S., Lightman, S.L., Sharples, P.M., 2001. Glucocorticoids modulate the NGF mRNA response in the rat hippocampus after traumatic brain injury. Brain Res. 892, 386–390.
- Grundy, P.L., Patel, N., Harbuz, M.S., Lightman, S.L., Sharples, P.M., 2004. Adrenalectomy further suppresses the NT-3 mRNA response to traumatic brain injury but this effect is not reversed with corticosterone. Brain Res. Mol. Brain Res. 120, 188–192.
- Gutièrrez-Mecinas, M., Trollope, A.F., Collins, A., Morfett, H., Hesketh, S.A., Kersanté,
 F., Reul, J.M., 2011. Long-lasting behavioral responses to stress involve a direct interaction of glucocorticoid receptors with ERK1/2-MSK1-Elk-1 signaling.
 Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 108, 13806–13811.

- Hannon, M.J., Crowley, R.K., Behan, L.A., O'Sullivan, E.P., O'Brien, M.M., Sherlock, M., Rawluk, D., O'Dwyer, R., Tormey, W., Thompson, C.J., 2013. Acute glucocorticoid deficiency and diabetes insipidus are common after acute traumatic brain injury and predict mortality. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 98, 3229–3237.
- Hartmann, A., Veldhuis, J.D., Deuschle, M., Standhardt, H., Heuser, I., 1997. Twentyfour hour cortisol release profiles in patients with Alzheimer's and Parkinson's disease compared to normal controls: ultradian secretory pulsatility and diurnal variation. Neurobiol. Aging 18, 285–289.
- Henley, D.E., Leendertz, J.A., Russell, G.M., Wood, S.A., Taheri, S., Woltersdorf, W.W., Lightman, S.L., 2009a. Development of an automated blood sampling system for use in humans. J. Med. Eng. Technol. 33, 199–208.
- Henley, D.E., Lightman, S.L., 2011. New insights into corticosteroid-binding globulin and glucocorticoid delivery. Neuroscience 180, 1–8.
- Henley, D.E., Russell, G.M., Douthwaite, J.A., Wood, S.A., Buchanan, F., Gibson, R., Woltersdorf, W.W., Catterall, J.R., Lightman, S.L., 2009b. Hypothalamicpituitary-adrenal axis activation in obstructive sleep apnea: the effect of continuous positive airway pressure therapy. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 94, 4234–4242.
- Herman, J.P., Ostrander, M.M., Mueller, N.K., Figueiredo, H., 2005. Limbic system mechanisms of stress regulation: hypothalamo-pituitary-adrenocortical axis.Prog. Neuropsychopharmacol. Biol. Psychiatry 29, 1201–1213.
- Herold, M.J., Reichardt, H.M., 2013. Glucocorticoid-induced apoptosis in animal models of multiple sclerosis. Crit. Rev. Immunol. 33, 183–202.

- Hill, M.R., Szefler, S.J., Ball, B.D., Bartoszek, M., Brenner, A.M., 1990. Monitoring glucocorticoid therapy: a pharmacokinetic approach. Clin. Pharmacol. Ther. 48, 390–398.
- Hu, W., Zhang, M., Czéh, B., Flügge, G., Zhang, W., 2010. Stress impairs GABAergic network function in the hippocampus by activating nongenomic glucocorticoid receptors and affecting the integrity of the parvalbumin-expressing neuronal network. Neuropsychopharmacology 35, 1693–1707.
- Hughes, K.A., Reynolds, R.M., Andrew, R., Critchley, H.O., Walker, B.R., 2010. Glucocorticoids turn over slowly in human adipose tissue in vivo. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 95, 4696–4702.
- Jacobson, L., Sapolsky, R., 1991. The role of the hippocampus in feedback regulation of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenocortical axis. Endocr. Rev. 12, 118–134.
- Jankord, R., Herman, J.P., 2008. Limbic regulation of hypothalamo-pituitaryadrenocortical function during acute and chronic stress. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 1148, 64–73.
- Jhanwar-Uniyal, M., Leibowitz, S.F., 1986. Impact of circulating corticosterone on alpha 1- and alpha 2-noradrenergic receptors in discrete brain areas. Brain Res. 368, 404–408.
- Jobe, A.H., Wada, N., Berry, L.M., Ikegami, M., Ervin, M.G., 1998. Single and repetitive maternal glucocorticoid exposures reduce fetal growth in sheep. Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 178, 880–885.
- Joëls, M., Baram, T.Z., 2009. The neuro-symphony of stress. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 10, 459–466.

- Johansson, A., Ahrén, B., Näsman, B., Carlström, K., Olsson, T., 2000. Cortisol axis abnormalities early after stroke--relationships to cytokines and leptin. J. Intern. Med. 247, 179–187.
- Kalman, B.A., Spencer, R.L., 2002. Rapid corticosteroid-dependent regulation of mineralocorticoid receptor protein expression in rat brain. Endocrinology 143, 4184–4195.
- Kaminski, R.M., Fu, Z., Venkatesan, K., Mazzuferi, M., Leclercq, K., Seutin, V., Vicini, S., 2011. 11-Deoxycortisol impedes GABAergic neurotransmission and induces drug-resistant status epilepticus in mice. Neuropharmacology 60, 1098–1108.
- Karst, H., Berger, S., Erdmann, G., Schütz, G., Joëls, M., 2010. Metaplasticity of amygdalar responses to the stress hormone corticosterone. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 107, 14449–14454.
- Karst, H., Berger, S., Turiault, M., Tronche, F., Schütz, G., Joëls, M., 2005.
 Mineralocorticoid receptors are indispensable for nongenomic modulation of hippocampal glutamate transmission by corticosterone. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 102, 19204–19207.
- Kino, T., Chrousos, G.P., 2011. Acetylation-mediated epigenetic regulation of glucocorticoid receptor activity: circadian rhythm-associated alterations of glucocorticoid actions in target tissues. Mol. Cell. Endocrinol. 336, 23–30.
- Kishimoto, W., Hiroi, T., Shiraishi, M., Osada, M., Imaoka, S., Kominami, S., Igarashi, T., Funae, Y., 2004. Cytochrome P450 2D catalyze steroid 21-hydroxylation in the brain. Endocrinology 145, 699–705.
- Kiss, J.Z., Van Eekelen, J.A., Reul, J.M., Westphal, H.M., De Kloet, E.R., 1988. Glucocorticoid receptor in magnocellular neurosecretory cells. Endocrinology 122, 444–449.

- Klein, J.F., 1992. Adverse psychiatric effects of systemic glucocorticoid therapy. Am. Fam. Physician 46, 1469–1474.
- Krieger, S., Sorrells, S.F., Nickerson, M., Pace, T.W., 2014. Mechanistic insights into corticosteroids in multiple sclerosis: war horse or chameleon? Clin. Neurol. Neurosurg. 119, 6–16.
- Krugers, H.J., Karst, H., Joels, M., 2012. Interactions between noradrenaline and corticosteroids in the brain: from electrical activity to cognitive performance. Front. Cell. Neurosci. 6, 15.
- Lei, J.K., 2010. Change of serum ACTH and cortisol levels in Alzheimer disease and mild cognition impairment. Zhonghua Yi Xue Za Zhi. 90, 2894–2896.
- Leibowitz, S.F., Roland, C.R., Hor, L., Squillari, V., 1984. Noradrenergic feeding elicited via the paraventricular nucleus is dependent upon circulating corticosterone. Physiol. Behav. 32, 857–864.
- Lentjes, E.G., Romijn, F.H., 1999. Temperature-dependent cortisol distribution among the blood compartments in man. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 84, 682– 687.
- Levy, A., Dachir, S., Arbel, I., Kadar, T., 1994. Aging, stress, and cognitive function. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 717, 79–88.
- Lightman, S.L., Conway-Campbell, B.L., 2010. The crucial role of pulsatile activity of the HPA axis for continuous dynamic equilibration. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 11, 710–718.
- Lightman, S.L., Wiles, C.C., Atkinson, H.C., Henley, D.E., Russell, G.M., Leendertz, J.A., McKenna, M.A., Spiga, F., Wood, S.A., Conway-Campbell, B.L., 2008. The significance of glucocorticoid pulsatility. Eur. J. Pharmacol. 583, 255–262.

- Lightman, S.L., Windle, R.J., Ma, X.M., Harbuz, M.S., Shanks, N.M., Julian, M.D., Wood, S.A., Kershaw, Y.M., Ingram, C.D., 2002. Hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal function. Arch. Physiol. Biochem. 110, 90–93.
- Limbourg, F.P., Huang, Z., Plumier, J.C., Simoncini, T., Fujioka, M., Tuckermann, J., Schütz, G., Moskowitz, M.A., Liao, J.K., 2002. Rapid nontranscriptional activation of endothelial nitric oxide synthase mediates increased cerebral blood flow and stroke protection by corticosteroids. J. Clin. Invest. 110, 1729– 1738.
- Lueken, U., Leisse, M., Mattes, K., Naumann, D., Wittling, W., Schweiger, E., 2009. Altered tonic and phasic cortisol secretion following unilateral stroke. Psychoneuroendocrinology 34, 402–412.
- Lussier, A.L., Romay-Tallón, R., Caruncho, H.J., Kalynchuk, L.E., 2013. Altered GABAergic and glutamatergic activity within the rat hippocampus and amygdala in rats subjected to repeated corticosterone administration but not restraint stress. Neuroscience 231, 38–48.
- Majewska, M.D., 1987. Antagonist-type interaction of glucocorticoids with the GABA receptor-coupled chloride channel. Brain Res. 418, 377–382.
- Majewska, M.D., Bisserbe, J.C., Eskay, R.L., 1985. Glucocorticoids are modulators of GABAA receptors in brain. Brain Res. 339, 178–182.
- Makino, S., Smith, M.A., Gold, P.W., 1995. Increased expression of corticotropinreleasing hormone and vasopressin messenger ribonucleic acid (mRNA) in the hypothalamic paraventricular nucleus during repeated stress: association with reduction in glucocorticoid receptor mRNA levels. Endocrinology. 136, 3299– 3309.

- Marklund, N., Peltonen, M., Nilsson, T.K., Olsson, T., 2004. Low and high circulating cortisol levels predict mortality and cognitive dysfunction early after stroke. J. Intern. Med. 256, 15–21.
- Martignoni, E., Petraglia, F., Costa, A., Bono, G., Genazzani, A.R., Nappi, G., 1990. Dementia of the Alzheimer type and hypothalamus-pituitary-adrenocortical axis: changes in cerebrospinal fluid corticotropin releasing factor and plasma cortisol levels. Acta Neurol. Scand. 81, 452–456.
- Matthews, S.G., 1998. Dynamic changes in glucocorticoid and mineralocorticoid receptor mRNA in the developing guinea pig brain. Brain Res Dev Brain Res. 107, 123–132.
- McGowan, P.O., Sasaki, A., D'Alessio, A.C., Dymov, S., Labonté, B., Szyf, M., Turecki, G., Meaney, M.J., 2009. Epigenetic regulation of the glucocorticoid receptor in human brain associates with childhood abuse. Nat. Neurosci. 12, 342–348.
- McKay, L.I., Cidlowski, J.A., 2003. Pharmacokinetics of Corticosteroids. In: Kufe, D.W., Pollock, R.E., Weichselbaum. R.R., Bast RC Jr, Gansler TS, Holland JF, Frei E III (Eds.), Holland-Frei Cancer Medicine. Sixth ed. Hamilton (ON). BC Decker Inc.
- McMillan, P.J., Wilkinson, C.W., Greenup, L., Raskind, M.A., Peskind, E.R., Leverenz, J.B., 2004. Chronic cortisol exposure promotes the development of a GABAergic phenotype in the primate hippocampus. J. Neurochem. 91, 843–851.
- Meaney, M.J., Aitken, D.H., Bodnoff, S.R., Iny, L.J., Tatarewicz, J.E., Sapolsky, R.M., 2013. Early postnatal handling alters glucocorticoid receptor concentrations in selected brain regions. Behav. Neurosci. 127, 637–641.

- Meijer, O.C., Karssen, A.M., de Kloet, E.R., 2003. Cell- and tIssue-specific effects of corticosteroids in relation to glucocorticoid resistance: examples from the brain. J. Endocrinol. 178, 13–18.
- Mellon, S.H., Griffin, L.D., Compagnone, N.A., 2001. Biosynthesis and action of neurosteroids. Brain Res. Brain Res. Rev. 37, 3–12.
- Mellon, S.H., Miller, W.L., 1989. Extraadrenal steroid 21-hydroxylation is not mediated by P450c21. J. Clin. Invest. 84, 1497–1502.
- Mellon, S.H., Griffin, L.D., 2002. Neurosteroids: biochemistry and clinical significance. Trends Endocrinol. Metab. 13, 35–43.
- Mensah-Nyagan, A.G., Do-Rego, J.L., Beaujean, D., Luu-The, V., Pelletier, G., Vaudry, H., 1999. Neurosteroids: expression of steroidogenic enzymes and regulation of steroid biosynthesis in the central nervous system. Pharmacol. Rev. 51, 63–81.
- Miksys, S., Tyndale, R.F., 2004. The unique regulation of brain cytochrome P450 2 (CYP2) family enzymes by drugs and genetics. Drug Metab. Rev. 36. 313–333.
- Miller, G.E., Cohen, S., Ritchey, A.K., 2002. Chronic psychological stress and the regulation of pro-inflammatory cytokines: a glucocorticoid-resistance model. Health Psychol. 21, 531–541.
- Minton, G.O., Young, A.H., McQuade, R., Fairchild, G., Ingram, C.D., Gartside, S.E., 2009. Profound changes in dopaminergic neurotransmission in the prefrontal cortex in response to flattening of the diurnal glucocorticoid rhythm: implications for bipolar disorder. Neuropsychopharmacology 34, 2265–2274.
- Morin, C., Zini, R., Simon, N., Charbonnier, P., Tillement, J.P., Le Louet, H., 2000. Low glucocorticoid concentrations decrease oxidative phosphorylation of isolated rat brain mitochondria: an additional effect of dexamethasone. Fundam. Clin. Pharmacol. 14, 493–500.

- Moutsatsou, P., Psarra, A.M., Tsiapara, A., Paraskevakou, H., Davaris, P., Sekeris, C.E., 2001. Localization of the glucocorticoid receptor in rat brain mitochondria. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 386, 69–78.
- Nadeau, S., Rivest, S., 2003. Glucocorticoids play a fundamental role in protecting the brain during innate immune response. J. Neurosci. 23, 5536–5544.
- Nishi, M., Takenaka, N., Morita, N., Ito, T., Ozawa, H., Kawata, M., 1999. Real-time imaging of glucocorticoid receptor dynamics in living neurons and glial cells in comparison with non-neural cells. Eur. J. Neurosci. 11, 1927–1936.
- Niwa, M., Jaaro-Peled, H., Tankou, S., Seshadri, S., Hikida, T., Matsumoto, Y., Cascella, N.G., Kano, S., Ozaki, N., Nabeshima, T., Sawa, A., 2013. Adolescent stressinduced epigenetic control of dopaminergic neurons via glucocorticoids. Science 339, 335–339.
- Notarianni, E., 2013. Hypercortisolemia and glucocorticoid receptor-signaling insufficiency in Alzheimer's disease initiation and development. Curr. Alzheimer Res. 10, 714–731.
- Ong, J., Kerr, D.I., Johnston, G.A., 1987. Cortisol: a potent biphasic modulator at GABAA-receptor complexes in the guinea pig isolated ileum. Neurosci. Lett. 82, 101–106.
- Oyamada, N., Sone, M., Miyashita, K., Park, K., Taura, D., Inuzuka, M., Sonoyama, T., Tsujimoto, H., Fukunaga, Y., Tamura, N., Itoh, H., Nakao, K., 2008. The role of mineralocorticoid receptor expression in brain remodeling after cerebral ischemia. Endocrinology 149, 3764–3777.
- Pariante, C.M., Lightman, S.L., 2008. The HPA axis in major depression: classical theories and new developments. Trends Neurosci. 31, 464–468.

- Pascual-Le Tallec, L., Lombès, M., 2005. The mineralocorticoid receptor: a journey exploring its diversity and specificity of action. Mol. Endocrinol. 19, 2211– 2221.
- Pasquali, R., Biscotti, D., Spinucci, G., Vicennati, V., Genazzani, A.D., Sgarbi, L., Casimirri, F., 1998. Pulsatile secretion of ACTH and cortisol in premenopausal women: effect of obesity and body fat distribution. Clin. Endocrinol. (Oxf). 48, 603–612.
- Patel, P.D., Lopez, J.F., Lyons, D.M., Burke, S., Wallace, M., Schatzberg, A.F., 2000. Glucocorticoid and mineralocorticoid receptor mRNA expression in squirrel monkey brain. J. Psychiatr. Res. 34, 383–392.
- Perlman, W.R., Webster, M.J., Herman, M.M., Kleinman, J.E., Weickert, C.S., 2007. Agerelated differences in glucocorticoid receptor mRNA levels in the human brain. Neurobiol. Aging 28, 447–458.
- Popoli, M., Yan, Z., McEwen, B.S., Sanacora, G., 2011. The stressed synapse: the impact of stress and glucocorticoids on glutamate transmission. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 13, 22–37.
- Pryce, C.R., 2008. Postnatal ontogeny of expression of the corticosteroid receptor genes in mammalian brains: inter-species and intra-species differences. Brain Res. Rev. 57, 596–605.
- Qian, X., Droste, S.K., Lightman, S.L., Reul, J.M., Linthorst, A.C., 2012. Circadian and ultradian rhythms of free glucocorticoid hormone are highly synchronized between the blood, the subcutaneous tissue, and the brain. Endocrinology 153, 4346–4353.
- Rai, R., Cohen, J., Venkatesh, B., 2004. Assessment of adrenocortical function in the critically ill. Crit. Care Resusc. 6, 123–129.

- Raubenheimer, P.J., Young, E.A., Andrew, R., Seckl, J.R., 2006. The role of corticosterone in human hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis feedback. Clin. Endocrinol. (Oxf). 65, 22–26.
- Raven, P.W., Checkley, S.A., Taylor, N.F., 1995. Extra-adrenal effects of metyrapone include inhibition of the 11-oxoreductase activity of 11-betahydroxysteroiddehydrogenase: a model for 11-HSD-I deficiency. Clin. Endocrinol. 43, 637–644.
- Reul, J.M., de Kloet, E.R., 1985. Two receptor systems for corticosterone in rat brain: microdistribution and differential occupation. Endocrinology 117, 2505–2511.
- Reynolds, R.M., 2013. Glucocorticoid excess and the developmental origins of disease: two decades of testing the hypothesis--2012 Curt Richter Award Winner. Psychoneuroendocrinology 38, 1–11.
- Rhen, T., Cidlowski, J.A., 2005. Antiinflammatory action of glucocorticoids--new mechanisms for old drugs. N. Engl. J. Med. 353, 1711–1723.
- Ricoux, A., Guitteny-Collas, M., Sauvaget, A., Delvot, P., Pottier, P., Hamidou, M., Vanelle, J.M., 2013. Oral glucocorticoid-induced psychiatric side-effects: focus on clinical specificities, incidence, risk factors and treatment. Rev. Med. Interne. 34, 293–302.
- Roberts, I., Yates, D., Sandercock, P., Farrell, B., Wasserberg, J., Lomas, G., Cottingham, R., Svoboda, P., Brayley, N., Mazairac, G., Laloë, V., Muñoz-Sánchez, A., Arango, M., Hartzenberg, B., Khamis, H., Yutthakasemsunt, S., Komolafe, E., Olldashi, F., Yadav, Y., Murillo-Cabezas, F., Shakur, H., Edwards, P.; CRASH trial collaborators, 2004. Effect of intravenous corticosteroids on death within 14 days in 10008 adults with clinically significant head injury (MRC CRASH trial): randomised placebo-controlled trial. Lancet 364, 1321–1328.

- Roland, C.R., Bhakthavatsalam, P., Leibowitz, S.F., 1986. Interaction between corticosterone and alpha-2-noradrenergic system of the paraventricular nucleus in relation to feeding behavior. Neuroendocrinology 42, 296–305.
- Roland, B.L., Krozowski, Z.S., Funder, J.W., 1995. Glucocorticoid receptor, mineralocorticoid receptors, 11 beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase-1 and -2 expression in rat brain and kidney: *in situ* studies. Mol. Cell. Endocrinol. 111, R1–7.
- Roozendaal, B., Carmi, O., McGaugh, J.L., 1996. Adrenocortical suppression blocks the memory-enhancing effects of amphetamine and epinephrine. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 93, 1429–1433.
- Roozendaal, B., Hernandez, A., Cabrera, S.M., Hagewoud, R., Malvaez, M., Stefanko, D.P., Haettig, J., Wood, M.A., 2010. Membrane-associated glucocorticoid activity is necessary for modulation of long-term memory via chromatin modification. J. Neurosci. 30, 5037–5046.
- Roozendaal, B., Okuda, S., Van der Zee, E.A., McGaugh, J.L., 2006. Glucocorticoid enhancement of memory requires arousal-induced noradrenergic activation in the basolateral amygdala. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 103, 6741–6746.
- Rothman, S.M., Mattson, M.P., 2010. Adverse stress, hippocampal networks, and Alzheimer's disease. Neuromolecular Med. 12, 56–70.
- Rothuizen, J., Reul, J.M., van Sluijs, F.J., Mol, J.A., Rijnberk, A., de Kloet, E.R., 1993. Increased neuroendocrine reactivity and decreased brain mineralocorticoid receptor-binding capacity in aged dogs. Endocrinology 132, 161–168.
- Russell, G.M., Henley, D.E., Leendertz, J., Douthwaite, J.A., Wood, S.A., Stevens, A., Woltersdorf, W.W., Peeters, B.W., Ruigt, G.S., White, A., Veldhuis, J.D., Lightman, S.L., 2010. Rapid glucocorticoid receptor-mediated inhibition of hypothalamic-

pituitary-adrenal ultradian activity in healthy males. J. Neurosci. 30, 6106-6115.

- Russell, G.M., Kalafatakis, K., Lightman, S.L., 2015. The importance of biological oscillators for HPA activity and tissue glucocorticoid response: coordinating stress and neurobehavioural adaptation. J. Neuroendocrinol. 27, 378–388.
- Russell, G.M., Lightman, S.L., 2014. Can side effects of steroid treatments be minimized by the temporal aspects of delivery method? Expert Opin. Drug Saf. 13, 1501–1513.
- Sampath-Kumar, R., Yu, M., Khalil, M.W., Yang, K., 1997. Metyrapone is a competitive inhibitor of 11beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 1 reductase. J. Steroid Biochem. Mol. Biol. 62, 195–199.
- Sandercock, P.A., Soane, T., 2011. Corticosteroids for acute ischaemic stroke. Cochrane Database Syst. Rev. 9, CD000064.
- Sarabdjitsingh, R.A., Conway-Campbell, B.L., Leggett, J.D., Waite, E.J., Meijer, O.C., de Kloet, E.R., Lightman, S.L., 2010. Stress responsiveness varies over the ultradian glucocorticoid cycle in a brain-region-specific manner. Endocrinology 151, 5369–5379.
- Sarabdjitsingh, R.A., Jezequel, J., Pasricha, N., Mikasova, L., Kerkhofs, A., Karst, H., Groc, L., Joëls, M., 2014. Ultradian corticosterone pulses balance glutamatergic transmission and synaptic plasticity. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 111, 14265– 14270.
- Sarabdjitsingh, R.A., Kofink, D., Karst, H., de Kloet, E.R., Joëls, M., 2012. Stressinduced enhancement of mouse amygdalar synaptic plasticity depends on glucocorticoid and ß-adrenergic activity. PLoS One 7, e42143.

- Scheller, K., Sekeris, C.E., Krohne, G., Hock, R., Hansen, I.A., Scheer, U., 2000. Localization of glucocorticoid hormone receptors in mitochondria of human cells. Eur. J. Cell Biol. 79, 299–307.
- Schwabe, L., Tegenthoff, M., Höffken, O., Wolf, O.T., 2010. Concurrent glucocorticoid and noradrenergic activity shifts instrumental behavior from goal-directed to habitual control. J. Neurosci. 30, 8190–8196.
- Shi, R., Wang, S., Qi, X., Chen, S., Chen, P., Zhang, Q., 2014. Lose dose genistein inhibits glucocorticoid receptor and ischemic brain injury in female rats. Neurochem. Int. 65, 14–22.
- Song, I.H., Buttgereit, F., 2006. Non-genomic glucocorticoid effects to provide the basis for new drug developments. Mol. Cell. Endocrinol. 246, 142–146.
- Sorrells, S.F., Sapolsky, R.M., 2007. An inflammatory review of glucocorticoid actions in the CNS. Brain Behav. Immun. 21, 259–272.
- Spiga, F., Walker, J.J., Terry, J.R., Lightman, S.L., 2014. HPA axis-rhythms. Compr. Physiol. 4, 1273–1298.
- Stith, R,D., Person, R.J., Dana, R.C., 1976. Metyrapone inhibition of 3Hhydrocortisone uptake and binding in various brain regions of the pig. Neuroendocrinol. 22, 183–192.
- Suarez-Roca, H., Quintero, L., Avila, R., Medina, S., De Freitas, M., Cárdenas, R., 2014. Central immune overactivation in the presence of reduced plasma corticosterone contributes to swim stress-induced hyperalgesia. Brain Res. Bull. 100, 61–69.
- Suwanjang, W., Holmström, K.M., Chetsawang, B., Abramov, A.Y., 2013. Glucocorticoids reduce intracellular calcium concentration and protects neurons against glutamate toxicity. Cell Calcium 53, 256–263.

- Takata, M., Nakagomi, T., Kashiwamura, S., Nakano-Doi, A., Saino, O., Nakagomi, N., Okamura, H., Mimura, O., Taguchi, A., Matsuyama, T., 2012. Glucocorticoidinduced TNF receptor-triggered T cells are key modulators for survival/death of neural stem/progenitor cells induced by ischemic stroke. Cell Death Differ. 19, 756–767.
- Tavassoli, N., Montastruc-Fournier, J., Montastruc J.L.; French Association of Regional Pharmacovigilance Centres, 2008. Psychiatric adverse drug reactions to glucocorticoids in children and adolescents: a much higher risk with elevated doses. Br. J. Clin. Pharmacol. 66, 566–567.
- Taylor, A.N., Tio, D.L., Sutton, R.L., 2013. Restoration of neuroendocrine stress response by glucocorticoid receptor or GABA(A) receptor antagonists after experimental traumatic brain injury. J. Neurotrauma 30, 1250–1256.
- Ter Wolbeek, M., Kavelaars, A., de Vries, W.B., Tersteeg-Kamperman, M., Veen, S., Kornelisse, R.F., van Weissenbruch, M., Baerts, W., Liem, K.D., van Bel, F., Heijnen, C.J., 2015. Neonatal glucocorticoid treatment: Long-term effects on the hypothalamus-pituitary-adrenal axis, immune system, and problem behavior in 14-17 year old adolescents. Brain Behav. Immun. 45, 128–138.
- Thal, S.C., Schaible, E.V., Neuhaus, W., Scheffer, D., Brandstetter, M., Engelhard, K., Wunder, C., Förster, C.Y., 2013. Inhibition of proteasomal glucocorticoid receptor degradation restores dexamethasone-mediated stabilization of the blood-brain barrier after traumatic brain injury. Crit. Care Med. 41, 1305–1315.
- Tomlinson, J.W., Walker, E.A., Bujalska, I.J., Draper, N., Lavery, G.G., Cooper, M.S., Hewison, M., Stewart, P.M., 2004. 11beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 1: a tissue-specific regulator of glucocorticoid response. Endocr. Rev. 5, 831–866.

- Trapp, T., Rupprecht, R., Castrén, M., Reul, J.M., Holsboer, F., 1994. Heterodimerization between mineralocorticoid and glucocorticoid receptor: a new principle of glucocorticoid action in the CNS. Neuron 13, 1457–1462.
- Uenohara, H., Imaizumi, S., Suzuki, J., Yoshimoto, T., 1988. The protective effect of mannitol, vitamin E and glucocorticoid on ischaemic brain injury: evaluation by chemiluminescence, energy metabolism and water content. Neurol. Res. 10, 73–80.
- Van Cauter, E., Leproult, R., Kupfer, D.J., 1996. Effects of gender and age on the levels and circadian rhythmicity of plasma cortisol. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 81, 2468–2473.
- van Rossum, E.F., Lamberts, S.W., 2004. Polymorphisms in the glucocorticoid receptor gene and their associations with metabolic parameters and body composition. Recent Prog. Horm. Res. 59, 333–357.
- van Stegeren, A.H., Roozendaal, B., Kindt, M., Wolf, O.T., Joëls, M., 2010. Interacting noradrenergic and corticosteroid systems shift human brain activation patterns during encoding. Neurobiol. Learn. Mem. 93, 56–65.
- Vardimon, L., Ben-Dror, I., Avisar, N., Oren, A., Shiftan, L., 1999. Glucocorticoid control of glial gene expression. J. Neurobiol. 40, 513–527.
- Waite, E.J., McKenna, M., Kershaw, Y., Walker, J.J., Cho, K., Piggins, H.D., Lightman, S.L., 2012. Ultradian corticosterone secretion is maintained in the absence of circadian cues. Eur. J. Neurosci. 36, 3142–3150.
- Walker, J.J., Terry, J.R., Lightman, S.L., 2010. Origin of ultradian pulsatility in the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis. Proc. Biol. Sci. 277, 1627–1633.
- Whitehead, G., Jo, J., Hogg, E.L., Piers, T., Kim, D.H., Seaton, G., Seok, H., Bru-Mercier, G., Son, G.H., Regan, P., Hildebrandt, L., Waite, E., Kim, B.C., Kerrigan, T.L., Kim, K., Whitcomb, D.J., Collingridge, G.L., Lightman, S.L., Cho, K., 2013. Acute

stress causes rapid synaptic insertion of Ca^{2+} -permeable AMPA receptors to facilitate long-term potentiation in the hippocampus. Brain 136, 3753–3765.

- Wickert, L., Selbig, J., Watzka, M., Stoffel-Wagner, B., Schramm, J., Bidlingmaier, F., Ludwig, M., 2000. Differential mRNA expression of the two mineralocorticoid receptor splice variants within the human brain: structure analysis of their different DNA binding domains. J. Neuroendocrinol. 12, 867–873.
- Wingenfeld, K., Heim, C., Schmidt, I., Wagner, D., Meinlschmidt, G., Hellhammer, D.H., 2008. HPA axis reactivity and lymphocyte glucocorticoid sensitivity in fibromyalgia syndrome and chronic pelvic pain. Psychosom. Med. 70, 65–72.
- Young, E.A., Abelson, J., Lightman, S.L., 2004. Cortisol pulsatility and its role in stress regulation and health. Front. Neuroendocrinol. 25, 69–76.
- Young, E.A., Carlson, N.E., Brown, M.B., 2001. Twenty-four-hour ACTH and cortisol pulsatility in depressed women. Neuropsychopharmacology 25, 267–276.
- Young, E.A., Haskett, R.F., Murphy-Weinberg, V., Watson, S.J., Akil, H., 1991. Loss of glucocorticoid fast feedback in depression. Arch. Gen. Psychiatry. 48, 693–699.
- Zanger, U.M., Raimundo, S., Eichelbaum, M., 2004. Cytochrome P450 2D6: overview and update on pharmacology, genetics, biochemistry. Naunyn. Schmiedebergs. Arch. Pharmacol. 369, 23–37.
- Zhou, M., Hoogenraad, C.C., Joëls, M., Krugers, H.J., 2012. Combined β-adrenergic and corticosteroid receptor activation regulates AMPA receptor function in hippocampal neurons. J. Psychopharmacol. 26, 516–524.

Legends to the Figures

Figure 1: Hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis and its interactions with brain regions under physiological or stressful conditions. Glucocorticoids (GCs) are secreted from adrenal glands (AGs) into the systemic circulation in a pulsatile manner as the result of a self-sustained interplay between AGs and the anterior pituitary (AP). The characteristics of that interplay involve (i) a positive feedforward stimulation from AP to AGs (mediated via the hormone corticotrophin or ACTH) and (ii) a delayed negative feedback stimulation from AGs to AP (mediated via the GCs themselves). Certain hypothalamic nuclei, like the paraventricular nucleus (PVN), are able to modify the circadian characteristics of the GC pulses by secreting corticotrophin-releasing hormone (CRH), which promotes ACTH secretion at the pituitary level. At a supra-pituitary level, PVN constitutes a key neuroanatomical location being able to dynamically alter the mode of GC secretion (via CRH secretion) in response to a number of different stimuli, like: (i) inhibitory feedback signals from circulating GCs, (ii) excitatory input from autonomic nervous system due to physical challenge, and (iii) inhibitory input from other hypothalamic nuclei and bed nucleus of stria terminalis (BNST) in response to psychological stress or pathological insults. The latter are encoded via complex interactions between corticolimbic regions of the brain, like amygdala, hippocampus and prefrontal cortex (PFC). These interactions, when dysregulated as a result of neuropsychiatric pathology, may affect the mode of HPA axis functioning and vice versa, a dysrhythmic HPA axis may facilitate the development of neuropsychiatric pathology. Green arrows: stimulatory effect, Red arrows: inhibitory effects, Grey arrows: mixed effect

Figure 2: 24-h plasma cortisol and/or corticotrophin (ACTH) profiles. Theoretical diagrams presenting normal 24-h plasma cortisol or/and ACTH profiles (dark blue) in comparison to other corresponding pathological profiles (light blue). (A): Abnormal cortisol profile is characterized by pulses of cortisol of increased amplitude, without any alterations in the overall number of pulses or their duration. Such a profile has been reported in patients with Alzheimer's or Parkinson disease, and leads to increased mean cortisol concentrations. (B): Abnormal ACTH profile is characterized by pulses of ACTH of decreased amplitude combined with an increase in the daily number of pulses. Such a profile has been observed in premenopausal, viscerally obese women. Mean cortisol concentrations may be normal. (C): Abnormal ACTH and cortisol profiles are characterized by pulses of longer duration. Such a profile has been reported in patients with obstructive sleep apnoea not treated with continuous positive airway pressure therapy. Mean cortisol concentrations could be increased.

<u>Figure 3:</u> **Glucocorticoids and psychopathology.** Reciprocal dysregulated interactions between various systems of neurotransmission, for instance the dopaminergic and/or the serotoninergic systems, with the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis, alters susceptibility to different psychiatric phenotypes including depressive behaviour, addiction, psychosis, anxiety disorders, antisocial/aggressive behaviour and post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD).

Tables

| rusic il diacocoración (de) involvement in neuropationogy. | | | | | | |
|---|---|--|--|--|--|--|
| GABA: gamma-aminobutyric Acid, HPA: hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal, MS: | | | | | | |
| multiple sclerosis TBI: traumatic brain injury | | | | | | |
| Multiple | GC-based therapeutics for anti-inflammatory control in disease relapse | | | | | |
| sclerosis | management | | | | | |
| | • dysregulated HPA axis in MS with affective symptomatology | | | | | |
| Stroke | stress-related GC-mediated signaling implicated in atherosclerotic | | | | | |
| | development and endothelial dysfunction | | | | | |
| | stress and up-regulation of HPA axis differentially affect stroke prognosis | | | | | |
| | depending on the time of onset and duration | | | | | |
| | GC-mediated reduction of oxidative stress and increase in penumbral rescue | | | | | |
| | rate | | | | | |
| | • nevertheless, application of GCs, under current therapeutic schemes, does not | | | | | |
| | attribute any benefit | | | | | |
| Traumatic | • acute, transient post-TBI HPA axis suppression. | | | | | |
| brain | • GC effects may counteract some of the damaging consequences of TBI, like | | | | | |
| injury | oedema, blood-brain-barrier dysfunction and disruption of growth factors' | | | | | |
| <u>и</u> ч. у | homeostasis in certain brain regions. | | | | | |

Table 1: Glucocorticoid (GC) involvement in neuropathology.

| ngary | homeostasis in certain brain regions.nevertheless, application of GCs is, under current therapeutic schemes, not |
|-----------|---|
| | beneficial or even harmful. |
| Alzheimer | hyperactive HPA axis |
| disease | stress-related GC-mediated signaling is involved in amyloidogenesis, tau |
| | hyper-phosphorylation and impaired hippocampal plasticity. |
| Parkinson | hyperactive HPA axis. |
| disease | stress-related GC-mediated signaling is associated with inflammatory |
| | dopaminergic neurodegeneration. |
| Non- | • side effect of long-term and/or high-dose treatment with GCs. |
| specific | GCs interfere with glutamatergic, GABAergic, noradrenergic and cholinergic |
| dementia | systems of neurotransmission, which are important in coordinating memory |
| | formation and consolidation, as well as glutamate-related cytotoxicity. |

Table 2: Neuroanatomical distribution of enzymes involved in steroidogenic pathways.

11βHSD: 11β-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase, CYP2D: cytochrome P450 2D, P-45011β:

| BRAIN REGIONS | 5a-reductase | 11βHSD | Ρ-45011β | CYP2D |
|--------------------------|--------------|--------|----------|-------|
| Brainstem | | + | | |
| Hypothalamus | + | + | | |
| Thalamus | + | | | |
| Cerebellum | | + | | + |
| Striatum | | | | + |
| Amygdala | | + | | |
| Hippocampus | + | + | | + |
| Occipital lobe | | | | + |
| Nucleus accumbens | | | | + |
| Neocortex | + | + | + | + |
| Circumventricular organs | + | + | | |

cytochrome P450 11-beta-hydroxylase.

Table 3: Spatial pattern of distribution of glucocorticoid-sensitive receptors in the brain.

GR: glucocorticoid receptor, MR: mineralocorticoid receptor

| BRAIN REGIONS | MR dominance | Comparable quantities | GR dominance |
|-------------------------|--------------|-----------------------|--------------|
| Dorsomedial PFC | | | \checkmark |
| Cingulate Cortex | | | \checkmark |
| Hippocampus | \checkmark | | |
| Rest of PFC | | \checkmark | |
| Rest of Cerebral Cortex | | \checkmark | |
| Lateral Geniculate | | \checkmark | |
| Nucleus accumbens | | \checkmark | |
| Basal Ganglia | \checkmark | | |
| Amygdala | | \checkmark | |
| Thalamus | | | \checkmark |
| Cerebellum | | \checkmark | |
| Hypothalamus | | | \checkmark |

Table 4: Role of glucocorticoid (GC) pulsatility in brain function.

GR: glucocorticoid receptor, MR: mineralocorticoid receptor

- 1. Temporal association/dissociation between MR- and GR-coordinated actions
- 2. Spatial mosaic of GC-dependent effects depending on the specific brain region and cell type
- 3. Importance for optimal cognitive and emotional function
- 4. Self-limiting control of damaging long-term GR-coordinated actions
- 5. Sustaining capacity of the stress system to effectively respond to insults throughout the day

Figures

Figure 1







